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PREFACE

This study has reached a far different result from
that originally intended. 1Initially, I undertook it as an
examination of the strategic inter-relationship of an army
and a navy in the conduct of a war. This seemed to be a
manageable topic for a thesis, and the War of the Spanish
Succession seemed to be a good example, as well as the
origin, of the controversy between 'blue water' and 'con-
tinental' strategies. The basic English language studies

for the period, G. N. Clark's The Later Stuarts and G. M.

Trevelyan's England under Queen Anne provided no broad

perspective into the strategic conduct of the war, and the
general literature on the war seemed to divide itself into
several small classes of special studies. There were
numerous studies on Marlborough and his military campaigns,
along with a few studies which dealt with the campaigns in
Spain. Then there were studies of the navy, very few of
which even mentioned Marlborough and the army, studies of
the colonies, government administration, party politics,
and a range of biographies. After making an initial survey
of the studies which had been done, I concluded that I
could fill a small gap by contrasting Marlborough's direc-
tion of the war on the continent with the ideas of his
political opposition and the actual operations of the navy.
In this way, I thought that I could explore an area which

military and naval theorists such as Clausewitz,



J. S. Corbett and A. T. Mahan had largely ignored.

I began my work in what I considered the most impor-
tant archive, the papers at Blenheim Palace. After a
month or so of work in the Muniment Room and in the Long
Library, it was clear that Marlborough had not directed
the broad strategy of the war, although he was clearly a
key figure. The very positive evidence for this forced
me to take a new approach and to ask new questions. First
of all, if Marlborough was not the strategic genius behind
the war, how were strategic decisions reached? On the
basis of the answer which I found to that question, I used
all the obtainable documents that were used in the strategic
decision making process to determine what national goals
were and how the army and navy were used to reach them.
This, in turn, led me to see that the forces were com-
plementary to one another as well as to the use of diplo-
macy, money and privateers. Throughout this investigation,
I was disturbed to find so little reference to the public
debate over war strategy in the conduct of war policy.
When I turned to a study of the debate in newspapers,
pamphlets and speeches I found that public comment over
the conduct and strategy of the war was not in itself the
object of the debate, but a superficial aspect of the
political controversy over the nature of the English
government.

Having begun with a narrowly defined issue, my
research has led me to a general reassessment of the
English view and conduct of grand strategy in the War of

the Spanish Succession. I have attempted to explore and
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to survey the range of manuscripts and I have considered
some of the major problems in English war conduct. The
result is a broad analysis and presentation of the general
pattern of English activity in a complex war. While this
broad view seems a useful one to present, the method and
the results cause some regrets. My conclusion about the
methods by which decisions were made has forced me away
from the more easily understandable and traditional habit
of linking actions to individuals. In place of naming
individuals, I have had to use abstract terms such as
'England', 'the Government' and 'the ministry'. The
search for broad patterns has obscured personalities, and
simultaneously, it has tended to replace movement in time
with a static view. However, I have chosen to take the
method that I have used because the chronological analysis
and narrative which would have corrected these problems

could not have been presented in the space available.

Acknowledgements

This study is the result of my own research, but in
the course of my work I am grateful for the assistance
which so many people have offered me. In that very long
list of debts, I am particularly grateful to Dr. Ivor
Burton of Bedford College, London, for giving me permission
to use the results of his research into the numbers of
effective troops sent into different theatres of the war
which he included in his unpublished thesis, 'The Secre-
tary of War and the Administration of the Army during the
War of the Spanish Succession', (University of London,
1960) . Mr. Martin Gilbert of Merton College, Oxford, very

iv



kindly allowed me to read in his home several files
relating to Marlborough that were among the Churchill
Papers from Chartwell in his custody.

A number of scholars and specialists have given me
general guidance. Professor R. M. Hatton of the London
School of Economics pointed out to me the importance of
Dutch and German writing and made some very useful criti-
cisms of my projected plan of study. Dr. Henry L. Snyder
of the University of Kansas was helpful in locating some
Marlborough documents. Professor Ralph Davis, University
of Leicester, kindly replied to my query on trade protec-
tion and the accuracy of trade statistics. Henry Kamen of
the University of Warwick gave me some broad general advice
at the outset of the study as did Dr. G. D. Ramsay of St.
Edmund Hall, Oxford, and Professor Geoffrey Holmes of the
University of Lancaster. Professor Michael Roberts of
Grahamstown, South Africa, kindly offered some very useful
guidance on the general literature of Scandinavian history
in this period. D. D. Aldridge of the University of
Newcastle-upon-Tyne gave me useful information on sources
of naval material as did A. W. H. Pearsall and Dr. R. J. B.
Knight of the National Maritime Museum, Greenwich.

Librarians and archivists were extremely helpful at
every place I visited. 1In particular, I am grateful for
the facilities of the Royal Commission on Historical
Manuscripts without whose help I should have overlooked
much important material. The generosity of the Modern
History Board in nominating me, in three successive years,

to one of its free places at the Institute of Historical



Research in London provided a very useful collection of
reference material and a place to meet with others working
in related fields. In Stockholm, my father-in-law,
redaktor Gunnar Sundell, introduced me to work at
Riksarkivet, and made photocopies of articles when I needed
them from afar.

Anthony Sarro did a superb job in turning my rough
and crowded sketches into clearly readable maps. I am
grateful to Elizabeth Jenkins, Barbara Campbell and Grace
Garth for typing successive drafts and to P. G. M. Dickson,
Charles Ingrao, R. J. B. Knight, Piers Mackesy and Gunnar
Sundell for their constructive criticism on themn.

On a personal note, I am deeply grateful to S. E.
Morison for giving me the initial encouragement to study
at Oxford and to Admiral Stansfield Turner, USN, who
inspired me to persevere while I was still a naval officer
on his staff. The Naval War College, Newport, Rhode Island,
made it all possible by a generous research grant and a
subsequent appointment as visiting associate professor of
strategqgy.

Above all, N. H. Gibbs of All Souls College, Chichele
Professor of the History of War in the University of Oxford,
has given me the day to day advice and encouragement which
has allowed me to learn. His friendship and kindness, along
with that of his wife, Kate, have sustained me over the

years.

J. B. Hattendorf

vi



PREFACE L] L] L] ® ® L] L] L) ® L] L] - ® L] ® L] - L] ® L ] ®
LIST OF MAPS AND TABLES . . ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢« &« o o o o o« =
A NOTE ON DATES, QUOTATIONS AND USAGE . . . . . .
CHAPTER
I. THE MACHINERY FOR THE CONDUCT OF WAR . . .
ITI. ENGLAND'S STRATEGY OF ALLIANCE . . . . . .
ITT. A WEB OF TREATIES . ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ o o o o o o =
IV. DEALING WITH SOME OBSTACLES TO ENGLISH
GRAND STRATEGY . . ¢ & & & o« o o o o o o =
V. THE ALLOCATION OF ENGLISH RESOURCES FOR
THE WAR ABROAD . ¢ &« & ¢ o« o o o o o o o =
VI. DEFENSIVE STRATEGY . . ¢« &« ¢« ¢ o o o o o =
VII. THE PUBLIC DEBATE AND WAR STRATEGY . . . .
VIII. ENGLISH CONDUCT OF THE WAR DURING THE
SEARCH FOR PEACE, Part I: 1705-10 . . . .
IX. ENGLISH CONDUCT OF THE WAR DURING THE
SEARCH FOR PEACE, Part II: 1710-13 . . . .
X. CONCLUSION . . &« &t & &4 o o o o o o o o o =
APPENDICES
A. Dramatis Personae: e e e e e s e e e e e
B. Chronological Listing of England's
International Agreements, 1701-1713 . . .
C. General War Expenditures, 1701-12 . . . .
D. Expenditure for the War on the Continent .
E. The Employment of the English Fleet . . .
F. The Employment of the Dutch Fleet . . . .
G. Letters of Marque Issued by the High Court
of Admiralty . . . . + v ¢ ¢ o o o o o o
H. Locations of Prizes Captured, 1702-12 . .
BIBLIOGRAPHY . . . . . ¢ ¢ ¢« ¢« o o o o o o o « =
ABSTRACTS L) L] L] 3 ° L) ° L] ° Y ] 3 . ° [ ] L] L) L) ° Y

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAG

11

viii

ix

55

98

134

197
246

281

319

340

389

394

401
421
422
423

426

427
428
429

454



IT.

IIT.

IV.

VI.

VII.

VIII.

IX.

XI.

XII.

XIIT.

XIV.

XV.

LIST OF TABLES

The division of responsibility in foreign
affairs among the Secretaries of State,
in general practice 1702-12 . . . . . . .
General War Expenditure and Expenditure
for the English Army, Foreign Troops

and Subsidies, 1703-12 . . . . . . . . .
Annual Subsidies . . . . . . . . . . . .

Employment of the Army on the Continent,
1701-12 . . . o 0L o e e e e e e e e e

Army Establishment Abroad, 1701-12 . . .
Ships and Men in Sea Pay, 1701-12 . . . .

Summary of the Employment of the English
Fleet Abroad, 1701-12 . . . . « « v o . .

Summary of the Employment of the Dutch
Fleet, 1702-12 . . . . . ¢« ¢ v ¢« v « « .

Dutch Ships Provided by Naval Agreements,
1702-11 . . . . . 0 0 0 e e e e e e e e

Summary of Letters of Marque issued by
the High Court of Admiralty, 1702-12 . .

Summary of Prizes captured, 1702-12 . . .

Summary of the Employment of the English
Fleet for Defence . . . . . . . . « . . .

Ships provided by the Cruiser and Convoy
Act, 1708 . . & ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ 4 e e 4 e e o

The Army Establishment for the Defence of
Britain and the Colonies, 1701-12 . . . .

Employment of the Army in the Defence of
Britain and the Colonies, 1701-12 . . . .

LIST OF MAPS

The Concept of English Grand Strategy,
1702-12 . . . . 0 0 0 0 e e e e e e e e

Home Defence . . . . . o ¢ v ¢ ¢ o o o
The Protection of trade . . . . . . . o« .

viii

PAGE

11

199

201-2

206
207

211

213

230

233

237

242

248

250

253

254

BETWEEN
PAGES

96-97
249-50

260-61



A NOTE ON DATES, QUOTATIONS AND USAGE

Readers will note that the Julian or 01ld Style calen-
dar was used in England until 1752. Under this system,
the new year began on Lady Day, 25 March. During the
period under consideration in this study, an 0l1d Style
date was eleven days behind the Gregorian or New Style
calendar which was used in continental Europe outside of
Russia and Sweden. In the Gregorian calendar, the new
year began on 1 January.

On service at sea, the navy normally used the 01d
Style familiar at home. In addition, ships' logs usually
were dated so that a new day began at mid-~day when the
navigator determined his position by observation of the
sun. Thus, each day began 12 hours before the ordinary
calendar day on land. The army posted in Europe normally,
but not always, used the New Style, while units posted in
the colonies used the 0l1d Style. Diplomats abroad used
the New for the most part, but some used the 0ld. Foreign
agents and diplomats in London normally, but not always,
used the New. The problem may have been as confusing to
contemporaries as it is to the modern student, for it
became customary to double date many documents using both
calendars.

In order to avoid using dates in this study which
would appear as fractions, I have employed two separate
policies, one for the text and one for the footnotes. 1In
footnotes, I have used only the New Style date when docu-

ments have been double dated, but I have used the date
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written on the document for those which are dated in the
original using only the 01d Style. I hope this will allow
a researcher to find my sources with relative ease. 1In
the text when I have discussed events which occurred in
England and the colonies, I have used the 01d Style dates
of the month, but I have dated the year as if it began on

1 January rather than 25 March. For events which occurred
on the continent, I have used the New Style. My intention
in using this procedure is to give due recognition to dates
which have been generally used, both by English and foreign
historians, and at the same time, make the chronology clear
to the modern reader. 1In those cases where documentary
dates and timing have become a factor in interpretation for
this study, full information is included in an appropriate
footnote.

In all quotations, the spelling, capitalization and
punctuation has been changed to conform to modern British
usage. Words which have been abbreviated or written in
cypher have been spelled out in full in their modern form.

Place names are spelled in their modern anglicized
form, if one 1s in current use. Otherwise, modern local
spelling is used. 1In the cases where names have changed,
the anglicized version of the historical name has been used.

There is a special problem in using the terms 'English'
and 'British' when describing the history of this period.
The Union with Scotland, in the very midst of the war,
changed descriptions and official titles from English to
British. However, I have not found that the Union made any
critical changes to war strategy. For that reason, and for
the sake of clarity, I have consistently used the term

X



'English' to describe the representatives, forces and the
activities of the government in London. Except in quota-
tions, I have reserved the terms 'British' and 'Britain'

to geographical descriptions.
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CHAPTER I
THE MACHINERY FOR THE CONDUCT OF WAR

Writing half a century after the end of the War of
the Spanish Succession, Sir William Blackstone suggested
that the elements of the English constitution were like
'distinct powers in mechanics, they jointly impel the
machine of government in a direction different from what
either acting by themselves would have done; but at the
same time in a direction partaking of each, and formed out
of all.'l He was speaking of the balance of the constitu-
tion in the formulation of law by Commons, Lords and Crown.
His analogy, however, is a useful description of the quite
different structure which was involved in the formulation
and execution of grand strategy in the period 1702 to 1713.

The conduct of grand strategy is the higher direction
of warfare. It is the purposeful use of armed force to
achieve broad objectives in international relations. As
such, it falls within the range of the powers which were
traditionally exercised by the Crown. By the 17th and 18th
centuries, however, Parliament had gradually asserted its
right to be consulted in these affairs. During Queen Anne's
reign, parliamentary influence was present, but grand

strategy was still clearly formulated within the executive

lW. Blackstone, Commentaries of the Laws of England
(Oxford, 1765), i. 151.




sphere of government.

Even within that area, essential contributions came
from a variety of sources on many levels. The growth in
the size of the central government, the development of a
central bureaucracy, the dramatic increase in the strength
of both the army and the navy, accompanied by the reduction
in the size and influence of the court, produced a complex
system to control the military.l

During the Nine Years War, the Royal Navy had
expanded from 173 ships in 1688, with a tonnage of 101,892
tons and carrying 6930 guns, to 323 ships in 1697 totalling
160,000 tons and carrying 9912 guns.2 The navy in Queen
Anne's reign remained substantially at the same level, but
by 1714, more workers were employed in industry supporting
the navy than in any other industry in the country. The
army, on the English establishment alone, grew from a force

3

of 18,568 in 1701 to a peak of 69,095 in 1709. At the

same time, the number of diplomatic representatives abroad
expanded from the 80 which served William III to 136 under

Anne.4 The increased involvement in Continental affairs,

15, H. Plumb, The Growth of Political Stability in
England 1675-1725 (London, 1967), p. 119 and ch. 4 in
general; general studies of these problems may be found in
Clayton Roberts, The Growth of Responsible Government in
Stuart England (Cambridge, 1966); G. Perjds, "Army Provi-
sioning, Logistics and Strategy in the Second Half of the
17th Century," Acta Historica Academiae Scientiarum
Hungaricae, xvi (1970), pp. 1-54.

27. Ehrman, The Navy in the War of William III
(Cambridge, 1953), p. xx.

3R. E. Scouller, The Armies of Queen Anne (Oxford,
1966), Appendix C.

4D. B. Horn, The British Diplomatic Service 1689-1789

(Oxford, 1961), p. 44.
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the management of trade and colonies overseas as well as
the operations of the army and navy in widely separated
areas created a situation which could be no longer effec-
tively controlled by a small group or even by an individ-
ual. The management of these affairs was carried out by
the co-operation of a variety of men in a variety of
capacities. What had emerged in England was not a stream-
lined system consciously designed to function smoothly in
the conduct of war. It worked, but it contrasted sharply
with the centralized bureaucracy created in France during
this same period.l Walter Bagehot remarked that 'the
English offices have never, since they were made, been
arranged with any reference to one another; or rather they
were never made, but grew as each could.'2

The relationship of all the parts may perhaps best be
seen by discussing each element separately and progressing
from the centre of direction to the most distant point. An
examination of English central direction must necessarily
range from the Queen and her closest circle of advisers to
the cabinet council, the Admiralty and the War Office. It
must include a discussion of the process by which information
and advice were received, instructions were drawn up as well
as the part played by commanders-in-chief, diplomats and

colonial governors. Recent historians have tended to assume

lSee John C. Rule, 'Colbert de Torcy, an Emergent

Bureaucracy, and the Formulation of French Foreign Policy,
1698-1715"' in Ragnhild Hatton (ed.), Louis XIV and Europe
(London, 1976), pp. 261-288.

2Walter Bagehot, The English Constitution (The
World's Classics, Oxford, 1974), p. 188. See also Mark A.
Thomson, The Secretaries of State 1681-1782 (Oxford, 1932),
p. 160.
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that the direction of the war lay entirely in the hands of
Marlborough and his close associates.l An investigation
into the governmental process by which the war was con-
ducted shows that there is no reason to tarnish the
deserved reputation of a great commander and a successful
diplomat, but overemphasizing his role tends to ignore the
fact that England fought the war as part of an alliance,
and it tends to obscure the impact of two important devel-
opments in the late seventeenth century: the dramatic
growth in the size of armies and navies, and the develop-

ment of central bureaucracies.

War Machinery in London

The growth of the administrative side of the central
government had created a variety of officials who were con-
cerned with the management of military and naval affairs.
The Navy Board, The Transport Board, The Victualling Board,
The Commissioners of Sick and Wounded, and the Board of
Ordnance made essential contributions. However, these
offices were rarely involved directly in making strategic
decisions. Direction of this sort was left, in varying
degrees, to the Admiralty, the Secretary at War, the Board
of Trade, Parliament, the secretaries of state, the
cabinet, and the Queen.

In theory, of course, it was the Sovereign who held
the ultimate authority in the formulation of strategy and

policy. The contrast between William III's active role

lSee for example, W. S. Churchill, Marlborough:
His Life and Times (London, 1947), i. 15-16 and Correlli
Barnett, Marlborough (London, 1974), pp- 23, 31-32 ff.
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and keen interest in foreign affairs with the more subdued
role of Queen Anne has overshadowed Anne's contribution in
this process. Although it is becoming increasingly
apparent to historians that Anne 'was not a negligible
force in the politics of her reign',l her precise role is
difficult to define. The Queen was closely concerned with
foreign affairs and was kept informed of routine dispatches
privately and in cabinet. A useful example of this may be
found during the peace negotiations of 1709. Secretary of
State Boyle wrote Lord Townshend,

This morning I had the honour to

receive your Excellency's letter

of the 4th of June, which I have

read to the Queen, as I must do

again on Sunday night at the

Council.?2
It was common practice as well to report to the Queen the
opinions and actions taken in the meetings of the lords
of the committee.3

It is clear that the Queen's personal influence in

foreign affairs had an impact on English policy. In a
private memorandum written in 1711, Robert Harley gave the
'"Queen's opinion and health' as the first item in his list

of domestic reasons for obtaining peace with France.4

However, the nature of the documents make it exceedingly

lPaul Langford, Modern British Foreign Policy: the
Eighteenth Century 1688-1815, (London, 1976), p. 5.

2Bodleian Library, MSS. Eng. Hist. d.147: Boyle to
Townshend, 27 May 17009.

3See for example, Staffordshire R. O. MSS. D(W) 1778
I.2. fo.177: Dartmouth to Queen Anne, 13 October 1710,
and D(W)1778/188 fo.104: Lords [Minutes], 30 January 1711.

4Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/10, 'Minutes, Windsor',
19 October 1711.
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difficult to trace the origin of any policy to the Queen
herself. Unlike her predecessor, she had no Portland or
Heinsius to whom she penned her thoughts on foreign
policy. The available evidence reveals that no single
individual in London made decisions regarding grand
strategy and the general conduct of the war. The business
of formulating decisions within the central government took
place within the cabinet. These decisions appear to have
been reached by the concensus of cabinet members, with the
Queen, acting on a consideration of facts, opinions, and
reports obtained from many sources. The Queen was present
at every cabinet meeting. Only in a brief period following
the death of Prince George in 1708 were the 'Lords of the
Committee of Council' alone allowed full control of
national affairs.l On very rare occasions when the Queen
was away from London, as when she was in Bath in 1703, the
lords of the committee were authorized to transact all
matters relating to the expedition to Portugal.2 In that
case, however, the basic decisions had already been made,
and the lords merely supervised the progress of affairs.
Normally, the Queen meeting with the lords of the commit-
tee formed the cabinet, and the sub-committees which were

formed from this group reported their recommendations and

lBlenheim, MSS. Sunderland Letterbook, i. 233:
Sunderland to Galway, 2 November 1708.

2Yale University, Beinicke Rare Book Library, Osborne

Collection, C-205: Nottingham to Blathwayt, 19 August 1703.
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opinions to the full cabinet for approval.l

There appears to have been a variety of committees
which dealt with various problems and which prepared
matters for cabinet discussion, planned detailed arrange-
ments, and supervised the execution of plans approved in
cabinet.2 For example, the preparations for the expedi-
tion to Canada were being considered in committee as early
as January 1711, although the plans were not presented for
the approval of the full cabinet until March.3 The
existence of these committees does not by any means pre-
suppose that they controlled all matters; they performed
a significant and valuable service which was clearly
accepted by those who participated. In 1709, for example,
the duke of Marlborough requested reinforcements for his
army in Flanders. A committee considered his request and
called in the Secretary of War to discuss the matter. Two
particular regiments were selected and the details of the
plan were presented to the cabinet at its next meeting.
In this case, the recommendation of the committee was dis-
approved in cabinet. The forces already in the Low

Countries were thought sufficient, and the two regiments

lFor a detailed description of this process, see
J. H. Plumb, 'The Organisation of the Cabinet in the Reign
of Queen Anne,' Trans. Royal Hist. Soc., 5th series,
vol. 7, 1957, pp. 137-57.

2J. H. Plumb, 'Organisation of the Cabinet . . .',
p. 155.

3staffordshire R. 0., MSS. D(W) 1778/188 fo.99:
Lord's Minutes, 18 January 1711; fo.134: Cabinet Minutes,
25 March 1711.




were sent elsewhere.l

The day-to-day management of foreign affairs was
left to the secretaries of state and the Lord Treasurer.
These men, as well as Marlborough when he was in London,
were privy to nearly all information relating to foreign
affairs and the conduct of the war. But precautions were
taken in restricting the availability of this information
beyond a very small circle. All diplomats were directed
to report their activities directly to a principal secre-
tary of state, but in some cases they were directed to
report their secret information in a separate encyphered
letter that would not need to be read in a full cabinet
meeting.2 In addition to this practice there is clear
evidence of management by small groups within the cabinet.
In a fragmentary note passed between Godolphin and

Nottingham during a cabinet meeting, the secretary of state

lBlenheim, MSS. Bl-22a: Boyle to Marlborough, 8 and
12 July 1709; H. L. Snyder, The Marlborough-Godolphin
Correspondence (Oxford, 1975), iii. 1308: Godolphin to
Marlborough, 10 July 1709.

2P.R.O., SP.80/18 fo.79: Stepney to Vernon,
5 February 1702; Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 37,529, fo.4l:
Nottingham to Hill, 3 March 1704. I have found only two
exceptions to the rule that diplomats report their activi-
ties by letter. In order to maintain secrecy in war planning,
Marlborough was reluctant to report matters by letter when
he was able to return to London and report in person.
Secondly, in Peterborough's instructions to proceed to Rome
and to prevent the Electoral Prince of Saxony from becoming
a Catholic, Peterborough was told 'we can neither enjoin
you to correspond with either of our secy's of state, nor
limit the time of your return'. P.R.O., F.0.90/37 fos.
208-10: Instructions of 22 February 1712. There is an
indication that Peterborough was sent away to prevent him
from causing political difficulty while Parliament was
sitting. B. C. Brown, ed., Letters and Diplomatic Instruc-
tions of Queen Anne (London, 1935), p- 357, Anne to
Oxford, 16 November 1711.
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penned in his tiny, characteristic script 'I intended to
speak of this when the Prince's Council go out'. To which
Godolphin replied in his flamboyant hand, 'I think you had
better not speak of this but to the Duke of Marlborough
and me, at first, and when it has been a little digested,
it will not require so much time here, as it will do now'.
Indeed, there was a limit to what any one committee could
accomplish in managing the diverse affairs of government.
A committee such as the cabinet itself, required issues to
be considered in depth before a sound decision could be
taken by the group as a whole. At the same time, it was
necessary for those who had considered matters in detail
to discuss them with other members of the cabinet, both
privately and in cabinet meetings.2 The inability of the
cabinet to consider matters in depth was apparent in 1711,
for example, when a detailed recommendation on policy had
been submitted by an envoy abroad. The secretary of state
passed it on to the lord privy seal requesting his opinion
and commenting, 'it will be of good use to the Queen's
service that your Lordship should have the opportunity of
considering these matters more fully than it's possible to

do when the letters are hastily read, and the contents of

them but loosely debated either in Cabinet or at the

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,589, f0.395: Nottingham
to Godolphin with reply, undated. See also Churchill
College, Cambridge, MSS. Marl 1/3. undated memo, [?21703].

2For an example of a private conversation, see H. L.
Snyder, 'Communication: the Formulation of Foreign and
Domestic Policy in the Reign of Queen Anne: Memoranda by
Lord Chancellor Cowper of Conversation with Lord Chancellor
Godolphin', The Historical Journal, xi (1968), 144-160.
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Committees.'l

The secretaries of state were the key administrative
co-ordinators of the various segments of government. They
corresponded with diplomats, the Board of Trade, the
Admiralty, the Secretary at War, colonial governors, com-
manders-in~chief at sea and on land. They managed aspects
of the foreign and domestic intelligence networks and
routinely met with foreign envoys. In handling this vast
array of business, a division of responsibility was developed
over the years as a matter of convenience among the two or
three men who served as principal secretaries of state.
However, the secretaries were well informed of each other's
activities and their daily work routinely complemented one
another. The division was a matter of administrative con-
cern, and it changed from time to time.2 When one secretary
was ill or indisposed, the other secretary would handle his
affairs and inform him or his staff of the action taken.
In special situations, such as when the Queen was in Bath
during the summer, envoys were directed to send copies of

their dispatches to both secretaries.

lpodleian Library, MSS. Rawl. A.286, fo.25: St. John
to John Robinson, Bishop of London and Lord Privy Seal, at
Utrecht, 17 October 1711.

2See Table I for the division of responsibility in
this period. E. V. Gulik, Europe's Classical Balance of
Power (Ithaca, N.Y., 1952), pp. 13-14, states that this
division was based on the perception of separate frameworks
within European relations. This argument cannot be sus-
tained beyond the very rough natural division between
Mediterranean versus northern and central Europe. While
there is logic in this division, there is no evidence to
support the theory that unrelated policies were conducted
in these areas.

3P.R.O., S.P. 104/205: Hedges to Stanhope, Robinson,
Vernon, Whitworth, Wick, Stepney, Raby, 19 August 1703.
On this occasion the Northern secretary accompanied the
Queen; the Southern stayed in London.
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TABLE I

The division of responsibility in foreign affairs among,

the Secretaries of State, in general practice 1702-12,

SOUTHERN DEPARTMENT

NORTHERN DEPARTMENT THIRD SECRETARY

Algiers
Flanders+
France
Genoa

Morocco

Naples

Portugal
Savoy

Sicily
Spain

Switzerland#
(including Grison
Leages, Geneva &
Lorraine)

Tripoli
Tunis
Turkey
Tuscany
Venice

Naval operations on
all stations

Colonial affairs

Military operations
in the above areas
(except Flanders)

Bavaria Denmark*

Brunswick-Lilineberg Sweden*

Brunswick-Wolfenblittel Poland*

Circles of the Elec-
toral Rhine, Swabia,
Upper Rhine &
Franconia

Russia*

Denmark*

Emperor of the Holy
Roman Empire

Flanders+

Hanse towns
Hesse-Cassel
Holstein-Gottorp
Imperial Diet
Mecklenburg~Schwerin
Elector Palatine
Poland*

Prussia

Russia*

Sweden*

Switzerland# (including
Grison Leages, Geneva
& Lorraine)

United Provinces

Military operations in the
above areas (including
Flanders) and general
military administration

* To the Third Secretary, June 1710 to July 1711.
+ To the Northern Department after June 1710.
# To the Northern Department, June 1710 to July 1711.

1

This division is based entirely on usage.

This list

is drawn from a study of the documents in P.R.O., S.P.

(Foreign) series.

The details for the
sibility in 1710 and 1711 are based on S.P.104/158:

alterations in respon-
Boyle to

Stanyon, 20 June 1710; Memo of 14 June 1710; St. John to Man-

ning,

24 July 1711, and S.P.104/12 fo.l5v. memo of 14 June 1710.

Blenheim MSS. B2-1: Queensbury to Marlborough, 23 June 1710.
This modifies and expands the list in D.B. Horn, Great Britain
and Europe in the Eighteenth Century (Oxford, 1967), pp. 12-13.




12

The secretaries of state provided the official certi-
fication for orders, but they were not by themselves the
policy makers. Nearly everything which appeared in a
secretary's official letter had been previously discussed
and approved in a meeting of the cabinet or lords of the
committee.l The reverse was true as well, what was
received was largely shared with other members of the
cabinet.2 The letters from abroad as well as from govern-
ment departments were read in the cabinet at the meetings
of the lords of the committee, and even privately to the
Queen. Marlborough and Godolphin's private correspond-
ence was regularly shared with the secretaries of state.3

The secretaries of state were responsible for main-
taining close contact with a variety of groups outside the

cabinet which provided essential information and advice

for the conduct of the war.

lThis statement is based on a comparison of Blenheim
MSS. Cl-16; Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/9 and 10; Stafford-
shire R.0., MSS. D(W) 1778/188 with secretarial entry books,
P.R.O0., S.P. 104 series; Blenheim MSS. Sunderland Letter-
books. This shows that these documents, for the most part
are not 'minutes' in the usual sense, but notes for the
secretary to use in writing his required correspondence.
See the rather full example printed in E. N. Williams,
The Eighteenth Century Constitution 1688-1815 (Cambridge,
1970), pp. 113-116.

2rit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 28,589, fo.4l: Godolphin
to Nottingham, 20 July 1703.

3Longleat House, Portland MSS. iv, fo.3l:
Marlborough to Harley, 8 July 1706; P.R.O. S.P. 87/2
fo.19: Marlborough to Nottingham, 20 August 1702; Brit.
Lib., Addit. MSS. 28,891: Tucker to Ellis, 2 October
1703. These are the letters in H. L. Snyder (ed.),
Marlborough-Godolphin Correspondence. See also Veenendaal,
Briefwisseling Anthonie Heinsius (R.G.P. 163, 1978),
postscript to no. 290.
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The Board of Trade served as a source of information.
It received regular reports from colonial governors,
drafted instructions, scrutinized public accounts for
colonial expenditure, reviewed the legislation passed by
colonial assemblies, considered the proposals and problems
of the trading companies and offered its advice on matters
relating to trade and colonial affairs. It was an entirely
advisory body and had no authority to carry out its recom-
mendations which were often ignored or overridden.
Although the influence of the Board was in a period of
relative decline during much of the war, it did provide
recommendations on colonial defence, convoys, arms sup-
plies, manning ships and plans for expeditions to America.2
In addition, it was able to provide intelligence of enemy
operations overseas.3 William Blathwayt, who had been
deeply involved in colonial affairs for many years, found
much to complain about in colonial policy. 'I do not
bring our Council of Trade into this guilt or blame', he
wrote, 'for they are but Journeymen.'4 The power of
decision lay elsewhere, but the Board served a useful

service as a source of information and advice.

lFor a detailed study of the Board in this period
see Ian K. Steele, Politics of Colonial Policy: The
Board of Trade in Colonial Administration 1696-1720
(Oxford, 1968), pp. 85-148.

2

Ibid., pp- 93, 101, 104, 116.

3P.R.O., C.0. 138/13 fo.321: Popple to Burchett,
15 February 1711.

4P.R.O., S.P. 105/65: Blathwayt to Stepney,
27 March 1702.
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The Post Officel provided an administrative centre
for secret intelligence. Here were located the Secret
and Private Offices which opened suspicious inland mail,
and the 'Foreign Secretary' who opened foreign correspond-
ence. The Deciphering Branch dealt with encrypted dis-
patches and letters culled from a variety of sources at
home and abroad. All this information was passed on to a
secretary of state. The Post Master, London, also served
as an intermediary to whom secret agents serving abroad
could send their reports for the use of the secretaries
of state and the cabinet.2 Not all foreign intelligence
was managed through the Post Office. On some occasions,
special agents were sent abroad to obtain particular
information or to perform special functions;3 in other
cases, private correspondents would regularly report
information. A number of these informants were merchants,
among whom the best known to historians is John Drummond

in Amsterdam who played such an important role in the

lSee K. L. Ellis, The Post Office in the Eighteenth
Century: A Study in Administrative History (Oxford,
1958) , pp. 62-3, 65-6, 127-131; K. L. Ellis 'British
Communication and Diplomacy in the Eighteenth century',
Bulletin of the Institute of Historical Research, xxxi,
(1958), pp- 158-67; J. C. Sainty, Secretaries of State
(London, 1973), pp. 51-2; Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 32,306:
Deciphering Office Papers; MSS. Loan 29/209 fos.397-418:
Blencoe to Harley, 22 June 1706; MSS. Loan 29/45U various
deciphering office papers.

2Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/45V: Sunderland to
Cadogan, 9 May 1709.

3For example, Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 17,677 WWW,
fos.679-88: 'Report of a voyage made from England to
France and back again' [to observe French naval activities],
20 March-June 1704. See also Spring Macky, Memoirs of
the Secret Services of John Macky, Esqg., (London, 1733),
pp. Xii-xviii.
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peace negotiations at the end of the war.l Drummond was
one of many others who sent information. The papers of
ministers have large sections of letters from such inform-
ants located in various cities. Sometimes their informa-
tion took only the form of an ordinary newsletter, and in
other cases, such as Drummond's, they could provide a
very important channel of communication. Like all intelli-
gence information, it was used to confirm reports, informa-
tion and judgements obtained from other sources.

Foreign envoys in London played an extremely important
part within the process by which the government made
decisions in grand strategy. These representatives of
allied governments provided information on specific points
as well as recommendations for broad policy which they
obtained through instructions from their own countries.
Often these proposals were made as formal memorials to the
Queen through a secretary of state3 or in an audience with
the Queen. However, the relationships of these representa-
tives were not entirely limited to formal applications.
Many envoys developed a range of influential contacts
through which they proceeded to press the viewpoint and
opinions of their governments. During the course of the

war, the most important envoys were those of the major

lSee Ragnhild Hatton, 'John Drummond in the War of
the Spanish Succession: Merchant Turned Diplomatic Agent'
in R. M. Hatton and M. S. Anderson, Studies in Diplomatic
History, (Hamden, Conn., 1970), pp. 69-96.

2Staffordshire R.O., MSS. D(W)1778 i. ii. 145:
Dartmouth to Queen Anne, 3 September 1710, discussing
intelligence and other reports on naval activity at
Dunkirk.

3These are contained in P.R.O., S.P. 100 series.
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allies. Each in their own way attempted to influence
England's decisions. In the planning for the 1704 cam-
paign, the Imperial envoy, Graf Wratislaw, was actively
seeking the support of key Ministers. Later, his succes-
sors used personal connections and the press as well as
discussions in cabinet and audiences with the Queen in
their efforts to influence English ministers.l Other
residents and envoys conducted themselves in a similar
way. Marinus van Vrijbergen, the envoy of the States-
General in London, paralleled his formal applications to
the Queen by numerous meetings with secretaries of state,
Marlborough and Godolphin. He participated in meetings
of the cabinet and the lords of the committee, and on
occasion, had private audiences with the Queen.2 The
Hanoverian resident, Graf von Bothmar, became involved in
party politics in an attempt to press the Elector's point
of view, much to the disgust of the Government in London.3

Foreign intelligence, colonial affairs, and the
opinions of the allies were all matters of direct concern
to the Government in the formulation of its policy and
strategy. In addition to providing a link between the

cabinet and the various sources of such information, the

lElke Jarnut Derbolav, Die Osterreichische
Gesandtshaft in London (1701-11): Ein Beitrag zur
Geschichte der Haager Allianz (Bonn, 1972), pp. 155-170,
265-8, 271-8.

°E.g., Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 17,677 WWW, fo. 513:
Vrijbergen aan Griffier der Staaten-General, 14 March 1704;
WWwWw fos. 724-5, 21 November 1704; YYY fos. 110-1,

16 September 1710; WWW fo. 692, 7 October 1704.

3Wolfgang Michael, England under George I: The
beginnings of the Hanoverian Dynasty (London, 1936),
pp- 10-12; Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/6: Instructions to
Thomas Harley, March 1712.
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secretaries of state also provided the link between the
cabinet and the armed forces.

The powers of the Admiralty were vested in the office
of the Lord High Admiral. These powers were exercised in
the name of this office alternatively by a single individ-
uwal, by an individual with the advice of a specially
appointed council, or by a board of commissioners. In the
event that all these methods failed, the office reverted
to the Crown. During the War of the Spanish Succession,
all four of these methods were used to conduct Admiralty
affairs.l

For eight of the twelve war years, Admiralty affairs
were dealt with by a Lord High Admiral. In 1701, King
William appointed Lord Pembroke to this office, reviving
an office which had been in commission since the removal
of the duke of York in 1684. William's decision to take
the office out of commission and return it to an individual
appointment had been an effort to remove the political
disputes among the commissioners which had hampered the
management of the navy. However, Pembroke's term of office
was brief. Within a few months of his appointment, the new
Queen asked him to step down in favour of her husband,
Prince George of Denmark. The circumstances of Pembroke's
appointment, his experience as the senior Admiralty
commissioner, and as one of the Lords Justices, allowed
him to perform his duties without a formally appointed

council of advisors. Prince George, however, did have a

lFor a list of the various office holders and their
dates, see J. C. Sainty, Admiralty Officials 1660-1870
(London, 1975), pp- 21-22, 32-33.
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council. Both the appointments of Pembroke and Prince
George were within the traditional practice of the early
Tudor navy when great officers of state, not seagoing
men, held the office.l In Prince George's case, the
council was appointed apparently as a check on the growth
of royal authority as well as a practical advisory council
to a man who was in poor health and who had had limited
experience in directly administering a department of
state. The Prince, himself, had a keen interest in naval
affairs and, as a young man in Denmark, had been given
some naval training. The appointment of the Prince's
Council in 17022 was directly modeled on the instructions
and duties laid out for the duke of York in 1673. The
council performed the day-to-day functions with the
approval of the Lord High Admiral. All warrants, commis-
sions and instructions were signed by the Prince, and the
Admiralty secretary seems to have met with the Prince on
a daily basis. The council consisted of five to seven
members, two of whom were not naval officers. The
business of the council could be carried on at the
Admiralty office by one or more of the council members.

Normally all of the decisions taken by the council would

lJ. A. Williamson, Hawkins of Plymouth (London,
1969), p. 238. P.R.O., PC2/79 fo0.129: Minutes of the
Privy Council, 21 May 1702. Declaration of Prince
George's appointment.

2For studies of this, see G. F. James and J. J.
Sutherland Shaw, 'Admiralty Administration and Personnel,
1619-1714', Bull. Inst. Hist. Research, xiv (1936),
pp. 10-24, 166-183. The relevant documents are in
Bodleian Library, MSS. Rawl. A. 465.

3p.R.0., ADM2/28 fos.335-38: Lord High Admiral's
Instruction to his Council, 23 May 1702.
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be approved by the Prince. During the Prince's illness
in the autumn of 1702, one member of the council was
authorized to carry on Admiralty affairs.l The following
spring and thereafter, two or more members were required
to conduct Admiralty business in the absence of the
Prince.2 During regular business when the Prince was
available and in good health, one to five members of the
council met to conduct business, although they came and
went during each working day as required. On the days
when only one member of the council was present to conduct
affairs, it was most often Admiral Sir David Mitchell.3
It was also Mitchell who was regularly called to go abroad
and discuss the naval requirements and plans with the
Dutch Admiralties.

Prince George, himself, played a role in the day-to-
day affairs of the Admiralty. There is no record of the
views which he expressed in cabinet meetings, but a few
fragments in secretarial correspondence reveal that he did

put forth his own views and that he personally made some

lP.R.O., ADM.2/29 fo.230: Warrant to the Council to
Act during the indisposition of the Lord High Admiral,
31 October 1702.

2p.R.0., ADM2/28 f0.302: Lord High Admiral to Rooke,
Mitchell, Shovell, Hill, and Churchill, 15 March 1703.

3See for example P.R.O., ADM3/22 Admiralty Minutes,
14 October, 4, 5 October 1706; 27 January, 5 April, 21,
28, 29 July, 4, 11, 12, 14, 15, 18, 19 August; 1, 8, 9
October 1707. Some historians have suggested that Admiral
George Churchill, Marlborough's brother, was the only
functional member of the Admiralty and through him
Marlborough directly controlled the navy. There is no
evidence for this. See P. K. Watson, "The Commission for
Victualling the Navy, the Commission for Sick and Wounded
Seamen and Prisoners of War and the Commission for Transport,
1702-14," (Univ. of London Ph.D. thesis, 1965) pp. 32-44.
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appointments.l The Admiralty minutes show that he met in
the Admiralty chambers for routine business on a number
. 2
of occasions.
At the death of Prince George on 28 October 1708, the
Prince's Council was dissolved and the office of Lord High

3 All business was conducted

Admiral reverted to the Crown.
in the Queen's name for one month. On 29 November Lord
Pembroke resumed the position of Lord High Admiral after a
bitter political struggle which concerned the apportionment
of several offices among the Whigs and Tories.4 Once again
Pembroke performed his duties without an advisory council.
After having held the position for exactly one year,

Pembroke resigned from his position bringing another

political storm.5 The office of Lord High Admiral was

lFor example, Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,59), fo.123v.:
Clarke to Burchett, 3 October 1702; Worcester College,
Oxford. Clarke MSS. 7.3: Clarke to Burchett, 5 September,
30 September, 6 October 1703. See also the account of
Prince George's participation at a board meeting, National
Maritime Museum, MS69/028, "Proceedings of Vice Admiral
Graydon."

P.R.0., ADM3/17-23. He was at the Admiralty in 1702,
once; in 1704, twice; 1705, 6 times;: 1707, 7 times. During
the final year of his life, the council attended the Prince
at Kensington Palace to conduct routine business once, and
occasionally, twice a week. The exact nature and extent of
his influence cannot be ascertained, but it does not appear
that he was a cypher.

3Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 37,356, f0.310: Tilson to
Stepney, 2 November 1708. All Admiralty orders, appoint-
ments, and secretarial correspondence for this period are
in P.R.O., ADM.2/1744, a volume which is out of sequence
with the others for Queen Anne's reign.

4Brit. Lib., Lansdowne 1236, fo.251: Sunderland to
[Newcastle?], 4 November 1708; Leicestershire R.O., MSS.
Finch 4950: Bromley to Nottingham, 11 November 1708. B. W.
Hill, The Growth of Parliamentary Parties 1689-1742
(London, 1976), pp. 118-20.

5See H. L. Snyder, 'Queen Anne Versus the Junto: the
effort to place Oxford at the Head of the Admiralty in
1709' Huntington Library Quarterly, xxv (1972), pp. 323-342.
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placed in commission, and executed by a board of seven
members, two of whom were required, at any time, to
conduct business.l

The business of the Admiralty, in whatever form it
was managed, involved a wide variety of considerations.
The most important of these for strategy were the issuing
of orders to commanders at sea and gathering intelligence
from reports made by the fleet. 1In both these areas, the
Admiralty worked closely with the cabinet, through the
Secretary of State for the Southern Department.2 General
guidance was received from the secretary of state, and the
Admiralty, in turn, shared its intelligence information.
The Admiralty considered the specific matters of ship
assignments and the officers who manned them. In the
course of planning, the Admiralty provided the secretary of
state with an assessment of the equipment and the capacity
of the fleet to perform a particular task. But such
technical matters were not allowed to remain the exclusive
province of the Admiralty. In many cases, judgements
3

were carefully reviewed at the cabinet level.

The Admiralty was required to regularly report the

lThe office remained in commission, except for the
brief appointment of the duke of Clarence in 1827-28,
until it reverted to the Crown in 1964.

2This was part of the arbitrary and informal division
of labour between the secretaries. In other reigns, naval
affairs were not exclusively within the Southern Department.
See John Ehrman, The Navy in the War of William ITI
(Cambridge 1953) pp. 306, 512-3, 606.

3These generalizations are based on a detailed examina-
tion and comparison between P.R.O. ADM.2/27-45: Admiralty
Instructions; ADM.1/4087-96: Secretaries of State to the
Admiralty; ADM.2/264-66: Admiralty to Secretaries of State;
ADM. 3/16~27: Admiralty minutes.
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state of the fleet to the cabinet,l and in addition, all
orders to any admiral or commander-in-chief were submitted
to the Queen in cabinet or to a committee of the lords of
the cabinet council before they were dispatched.2 Repre-
sentatives of the Admiralty met frequently with the cabinet
council and sought from it general guidance in giving
orders to ships at sea.3

Although the Admiralty's direction of affairs was
controlled and modified by the cabinet, the Admiralty's
function in framing the drafts of instructions and in pro-
viding technical information was an important contribution
to the process by which a cabinet decision was reached.
Although the Admiralty was not in a position to have the
final authority in affairs at sea, its perceptions were
an important influence in defining the available options
which could be chosen.

The function of the cabinet in reviewing Admiralty
instructions was not its only connection with the fleet at
sea. There also existed a direct link between the secre-
tary of state and a commander-in-chief, by-passing the
Admiralty through a routine administrative process. First,

a secretary of state directed the Admiralty to instruct an

lP.R.O., ADM.1/4087 fo.39: Secretary Vernon's
directions for the Admiralty to report to the King twice a
week on the manning and operation of the fleet; S.P.44/104
fo.33: Nottingham to Burchett, 30 June 1702, required a
weekly report; ADM.8: The monthly lists of ships and
vessels in sea pay were also provided to the secretary of
state.

2P.R.O., S.P.44/210, fo.11l: Sunderland to the Prince's
Council, 8 March 1707; Blenheim MSS. Cl-16: Cabinet
Minutes, 7 March 1707.

3Blenheim MSS. Cl-5: Burchett to Sunderland, 22 February
1708, is an example of this working relationship.



23
admiral that he was to receive orders from Her Majesty by
the hand of a secretary of state.l The Admiralty issued
a warrant authorizing the officer to receive such instruc-
tions. Then, the secretary of state would send instruc-
tions directly to the admiral from the Queen under her
signet and sign manual. These orders would invariably
require the admiral to report his activities directly to
a secretary of state, who in turn would provide additional
instructions. This correspondence was not necessarily
reported to the Admiralty. 1In some cases, commanders were
advised to make no mention of it to anyone other than a
secretary of state.2
In normal usage this arrangement created neither a

conflict in direction nor an overlap in authority between
the professional and political direction of fleet movements.
It was clearly a complementary system by which the two
sources of direction worked together, and in which the
cabinet and Crown maintained the ultimate authority. 1In a
note to a colleague concerning the agenda for a cabinet
meeting, Lord Treasurer Godolphin indicated the manner in
which this duality was used:

It might want to be considered what

uses the Queen would apply this Squadron

to, and what part of these services

might be communicated to the Prince's

Council, and the orders given to Sir
George Rooke by them, and what part of

lg.g., Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 28,888, fo.30L:
Hedges to Prince George, 8 June 1702.

2Staffordshire R. O. MSS. D(W) 1778/188, fo.110v.:
Minutes 14 February 1711; P.R.O., S.P.104/79, fo.21l:
St. John to Wishart, 16 February 1711.
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the orders ought to be secret, and 1
sent to him by a secretary of state.

Thus, the Admiralty served as the administrative
co-ordinators of the navy and the technical advisors to
the cabinet which retained the strategic direction of
affairs at sea. However, by regularly reporting the state
of the navy, collecting and reporting intelligence, and
framing instructions, the Admiralty played an active part
in the planning and execution of grand strategy.

The army was managed through quite different offices.
From 1702 until 1708, the senior officer was the 'General-
issimo of all Her Majesty's Forces by Sea and Land'.2
This unusual office had no precedent and was not continued
after 1708. It was created for Prince George of Denmark,
and it was held by him concurrently while Lord High
Admiral.

The conjunction of these two offices in the Queen's
consort along with the Prince's regular attendance at all
cabinet meetings,3 his signature on naval and military
commissions, appointments, and instructions indicates
strongly that the intention was to delegate to the Prince,

as far as was possible, the duties of the Sovereign in

lBrit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,591, fo.252: Unsigned and
unaddressed note in Godolphin's hand, 20 February 1704.

2P.R.O., P.C.2/79, fo.95: Privy Council minutes,
17 April 1702; Bodleian Library, MSS. Rawl. A.465: Patent
of Generalissimo, 8 June 1702.

3J. H. Plumb, 'The Organisation of the Cabinet in the
Reign of Queen Anne', Trans. R. Hist. Soc. (5th ser., vii.
1957) p. 1l42. M. A. Thompson, Secretaries of State 1681-
1782, p. 89, has drawn an incorrect conclusion on this
point.
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relation to the forces.l Prince George has suffered
greatly at the hands of historians who persistently have
regarded him as the dullest of royal relations. He was
often in poor health, but he had a keen interest in naval
and military affairs. There is little doubt that Anne
was deeply attached to him and respected his judgement.
Just six months before Anne became Queen, the Prussian
envoy in London reported to Berlin that he had had a
rather long discussion with the Prince on public affairs,
a subject in which the envoy found him 'highly educated'.2
As Generalissimo, he performed an administrative function
for the Army in approving appointments and assignments.3
The importance of this position was revealed at the Prince's
death in 1708. At that time, the Secretary at War told
Marlborough that the Prince's death had 'at present put a
stop to the course of business in this office'.4 For a
time, there was confusion as to the form and manner in which
appointments, commissions and instructions were to be given,
but this was resolved by giving the authority in the

Queen's name.

After Prince George, the next senior officer in the

lThere is insufficient evidence to make a secure
argument on this point, and no authority has offered a
convincing explanation. See C. M. Clode, Military Forces
of the Crown (London, 1869) ii., pp. 256-7, 690,694-5;
R. E. Scouller, The Armies of Queen Anne, pp. 5,55.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 30,000E, fo.336: Bonet to
Frederick I, 16 September 1701.

3Cambridge University Lib. C(H) Papers 6: Walpole
to Cardonnel, 6 August 1708.

4Cambridge University Lib. C(H) Papers 6: Walpole
to Marlborough, 2 November 1708.
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army was the Captain-General. This office was held by
Lord Marlborough from 1702 until the end of 1711 when he
was succeeded by the duke of Ormonde. The Captain-General
was responsible 'for the commanding, regulating, and keeping
in Discipline'l of the military. He was concerned with the
basic training, general organization and welfare of all
troops wherever they were stationed. Beyond matters of
this nature, he did not give instructions to commanders-
in-chief. He did not give orders for operations outside
the areas in which he was specifically designated a com-
mander-in-chief. Marlborough's position as ambassador
required a correspondence with other commanders-in-chief,
but this connection was never used to direct military
operations. At the same time, many officers clearly under-
stood the importance of Marlborough's political position,
and they sought his political patronage and his support for
their own military plans. Unless these plans directly
concerned Marlborough's own operations, he forwarded those
that appeared to have merit to London, asking the cabinet
to judge whether they could be practically carried out.
As the senior military officer, Marlborough appropriately
encouraged other commanders. However, he was careful to
ensure that his encouragement backed the policies of the
Government in London.2

The Secretary at War was by long practice the

lR. E. Scouller, The Armies of Queen Anne, pp. 55-56.

2See the summary to this chapter for a typical
example of Marlborough's role in dealing with other
commanders.
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secretary to the Captain-General. In this capacity, he
could and did issue orders in the Captain-General's name.
At the same time, he was directed to follow the orders and
directions that came from the Queen and a secretary of
state.l The position of Secretary at War had developed
from a minor secretarial position through the management
of William Blathwayt, who had held the position from 1683
until 1704. It had gradually increased in prestige to the
point where the Secretary was often called upon to speak
for the Government on military affairs in the House of
Commons.2 Earlier, the senior army officer had served as
the liaison for the army with a secretary of state and the
cabinet, and the Secretary at War was called only on
occasion for special examinations.3 During Queen Anne's
reign, the Secretary increasingly was called upon to
provide information on the state of army affairs and the
availability and condition of troops.4 In carrying out
these duties, the Secretary at War normally dealt with the
Secretary of State for the Northern Department on adminis-

trative matters. However, matters relating to the higher

lP.R.O., S.P.44/172, fo.150: Patent for Secretary of
War, 15 February 1708.

2For a detailed study of this development, see R. E.
Scouller, Armies of Queen Anne, pp. 10-22 and I. F. Burton,
'The Secretary at War and the Administration of the Army
during the War of the Spanish Succession' (Ph.D. Thesis,
University of London, 1960); G. A. Jacobsen, William
Blathwayt: a late seventeenth century English Administra-
tor (Oxford, 1933).

3Gloucestershire R.O. MSS. D.2659/2 undated fragment
[Temp. William III] by Blathwayt.

4For example, P.R.O., S.P.44/104,6fo.222: Nottingham
to Blathwayt 5 March 1703; Staffordshire R.O., MSS. D(W)
1778/188 fo0.80: Cabinet Council Minutes, 19 December 1710.
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direction of the war were generally dealt with by the
secretary of state in whose area the operations were to
be conducted.

The participation of the Secretary at War in dealing
with questions of strategy was limited to technical and
administrative considerations. In comparison to the
Admiralty's similar position, the Secretary at War's
impact was less than that of his naval colleagues. The
War Office was neither a gathering point for intelligence
from abroad nor a headquarters for directing operations.
The Captain~General's position in the cabinet and his
presence in London when the army was in winter quarters
lessened the importance of the Secretary at War by com-
parison. However, the Secretary continued to be a
valuable source of information for the cabinet in making
its decisions. After the death of Prince George, the
Secretary gained more prestige, but it remained a tenuous
and uncertain position.

In early 1711, when Marlborough's political position
was at a low point, a committee of the lords of the cabinet
council was appointed to consider the state of the army and
to deal with a number of administrative matters. It was a
short-lived experiment, but it was an important step in the
long process by which the War Office was enhanced as an
administrative centre, and by which statesmen came increas-

ingly to depend on it for professional and technical advice.l

lstaffordshire R.0. D(W)1778 III/0/16, fo.75-76:
Dartmouth to Portmore, 6 March 1711; P.R.O., S.P.44/109:
St. John to Secretary of War, 2 March 1711; I. F. Burton,
'The Committee of Council at the War Office: An experiment
in Cabinet Government under Anne', The Historical Journal,
iv (1961), pp. 78-103.
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Parliament was another very important factor in the
machinery by which England conducted the war. Experience
had shown that it could not formulate policy, but at the
same time it could not be ignored.l The decision as to
whether the nation would enter into war or not was a
decision for Parliament. In 1701 Marlborough, among other
influential men, thought that if the King should enter into
war on his own authority 'we shall never see a quiet day
more in England'. A dispute between Crown and Parliament
on that issue would be disastrous for the country as well
as make English power in Europe entirely ineffective.2
Once this decision was made, the Government could formulate
its own measures since Parliament and the public were not
well informed about the details of foreign affairs. On
occasion, information which was communicated to Parliament
was modified or given incompletely for political purposes
which were designed to avoid controversy.3 As long as the
appropriate funds were voted and supplies could be main-
tained, then the Government needed to pay little regard in

its conduct of the war for the 'many murmurings, and hollow

lSee M. A. Thomson, 'Parliament and Foreign Policy
1689-1714' in R. Hatton and J. S. Bromley (eds.) William
ITI and Louis XIV (Liverpool, 1968), pp. 130-39; D. H.
Wollman 'Parliament and Foreign Policy 1697-1714'
(University of Wisconsin Ph.D. thesis,h 1970).

’Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 40,775, f0.232-3: Marlborough
to Vernon, 3/14 October 1701.

3Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 35,854, fo.9: Lord Cowper's
diary, 26 November 1705.
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noises of distant winds'l which were heard in Parliament.
In the case that the necessary money was not voted, then
the Government's plans were at least partially changed.

In 1712, the failure of Parliament to provide for some
services in Spain forced the Government to contradict its
previous instructions.2 The attitude of Parliament in the
matter of supplies, in particular, was a critical concern
for those who directed the war as well as for the allies

who observed the situation in England.3

The Machinery for defence in the colonies
and on distant stations

The defences of the trading posts in India, the East
Indies, the eastern Mediterranean and in West Africa were
left largely to the responsibility of the companies which
dealt with trade in those areas: The East India Company,
the Levant Company, and the Royal African Company. In
Africa, 'separate traders' were allowed into the trade upon
payment of a 10 percent levy on English and colonial exports
and certain imports. The proceeds of this were to be
applied to the maintenance of the forts on the African
coast.4 In fact, these forts were of little military value.

In 1706, Fort St. James at the mouth of the River Gambia

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 7059, fo.39v.: Harley to
Stepney, 31 October 1704.

2P.R.O., F0.9/37,f0.222: Dartmouth to Chetwynd,
1l April 1712.

3Blenheim, Sunderland Letterbook, i. p. 245: Sunderland
to Galway, 23 November 1708; Blenheim MSS. Al-14:
Marlborough to Godolphin, 13 July 1704; P.R.O., FO0.9/37,
fo.135: Dartmouth to Peterborough, 18 May 1711l.

41. K. Steele, Politics of Colonial Policy, p. 126.
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needed to be put into 'a condition to withstand the assaults
of an enemy and vermin.'l Another was reported by the
inhabitants to be 'in a ruinous condition this 8 or 10
years and they are afraid of being murdered by its fall.'2
In planning one of the very few naval expeditions to
attack French settlements in West Africa, the Admiralty
directed the naval officers involved to work closely with
the agents of the Royal African Company. The warships
were directed to take and destroy the French settlements
near Cape Verde, Sénégal and Gorée. The concerns of the
Company were most important, and this order was to be
modified if the agent in the area wished to take over
Gorée. 1In that case, only Sénégal was to be destroyed.3

When the trading companies found that they could not
protect their own trade, they applied for assistance to
the Admiralty through the Board of Trade. In general,
the major threat to trade was in home waters and in the
seas near the major areas of fighting. On distant stations,
the companies were often able to provide for themselves the
best protection and intelligence about the enemy. In the
eastern Mediterranean, the Levant Company carefully
obtained information about enemy privateers and warships
operating along the trade routes. Information came from

the British envoy in Constantinople, consuls, and company

lP.R.O., T.70/5, fo.22v: John Snow to Thos. Pindar,
2 December 1706.

2P.R.O., T.70/5, fo.42v: Extract of Andrew Thompson's
letter, Anamabo, 4 March 1708.

3P.R.O. ADM.1/4089, fo.8: Nottingham to Prince's
Council, 2 July 1703.
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agents. The agent at Leghorn, in particular, was required
to send timely news to the Company's fleet and, if possible,
to maintain several vessels on patrol in order to report
French movements.l In the western Mediterranean, close
to the fighting in Spain and Italy and the major French
bases, this information was shared with the naval officers
who were assigned to convoy duty. The course of action
which was to be taken in protecting trade was decided by
the naval commander in conference with his captains with
assistance of information provided by the Company.2

In America, the situation was somewhat similar to
that of the trading companies in other areas, but the
threat from the enemy was much greater. Each of the
colonies, on the mainland and in the West Indies, was
expected to provide its own military defence and to maintain
the necessary forces and fortifications from the revenue
of its own taxation. In order to achieve this, governors
were sent out with commissions as captain -~general as well
as vice-admiral within their respective colonies. Typi-
cally, a governor was given the power 'to levy, arm,
muster, command and employ all persons whatsoever' for the
defence of the colony both on land and at sea as well as
to transport such forces to any other colony as required

for mutual defence.3 Many governors were also authorized

lP.R.O. S.P.105/115: Levant Company to Agent at
Leghorn, 26 November 1703; to [Robert Sutton], 14 June 1705.

2National Maritime Museum, LBK.44: Baker to Norris,
15 May 1710.

3P.R.O., P.C.5/3, fo.562: 1Instructions to Robert
Hunter, Governor of Virginia, 17 April 1707.
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to issue letters of marque and reprisal and to maintain
vice-admiralty courts. Colonial assemblies were encouraged
to provide for their own defence and such legislation was
readily given the royal assent.l

The concept was logical, but problems were numerous.
Royal colonies and governors appointed by the Crown would
more readily follow direction from London in these matters
than colonial proprietors and colonial assemblies.2 In
order to rectify the situation to some degree, the Govern-
ment in London attempted to augment the forces available in
the colonies and to establish a more effective system of
defence in America. In a report in 1702, the Board of Trade
pointed out the disparity in defence preparations taken by
Crown colonies and proprietary colonies. Referring to the
proprietary governments in the Bahamas, Carolina, Maryland,
Pennsylvania and New Jersey, the Board noted that those col-
onies were 'in a state wholly defenceless' and unwilling to
take any action to remedy the situation.3 However, the
ability of the colonies to provide for their own defence
varied considerably. In order to provide some measure of
general security, a scheme of contribution in terms of men
and money was worked out in London for each of the colonies

on the American mainland. In addition, the Crown advanced

lFor example, P.R.O., P.C. 5/3, fo. 451: Privy Council
Minutes, 13 December 1705, Approving an Act of Antiqua.

2For a summary of these difficulties see G. H.
Gutteridge, The Colonial Policy of William III (London,
1966), pp. 179-81, and C. M. Andrews, The Colonial Period
of American History (New Haven, 1938), iv. 374-89.

3P.R.O., C.0. 324/8, fo. 30v: Board of Trade to King
William, 24 January 1702. East and West New Jersey
surrendered their proprietary charter in early 1702.
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money for the immediate repair of certain frontier forts.l

Some colonies were more exposed to attack than others,
and some served as the security for others. The New York
frontier forts, for example, were the only security from
French attack on Virginia.2 The frontier of Massachusetts
was the security for Connecticut.3 Yet, despite encourage-
ment from London, there was little desire for co-operation
among the colonies. Some colonists in Maryland saw that
they were so well protected by other colonies that there
was no need at all to send a military man there as
governor.4 In Pennsylvania, despite the urgent pleas of
the lieutenant-governor, the Assembly refused to contribute
any men to a joint expedition with Massachusetts, to defend
their own coastline, or even to encourage the Indians who
had offered their assistance in defending the colony.5

Naval forces which were sent to the colonies in America
were typically supplied with general instructions to protect
Her Majesty's colonies 'in such manner as upon consulting
the Captains under your command, and a mature consideration
by you and them of the intelligence you receive, shall be

judged may most conduce to the annoying the Enemy, and

lP.R.O., P.C.5/3, fo.1l71: 1Instructions to Cornbury,

1702. L. W. Labaree, (ed.) Royal Instructions to British
Colonial Governors 1670-1776, (New York, 1967), i. 412.

2P.R.O., P.C.2/79, fos.148-9: Instructions to
Nicholson, 11 June 1702.

3P.R.O., P.C.5/3, fo.362: Instructions to the
Governors of Connecticut and Massachusetts, 23 March 1703.

4Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/285: Memorial recommending
Tobias Bowles as Governor of Maryland, no date.

5Newberry Library, Ayer MSS. 701: Gookin to
Nicholson and Vetch, 17 June 1709.
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protecting her Majesty's Plantations, and the trade in
those parts'. 1In addition, the commander was directed
to consult the governors of the colonies in the area where
he was serving and seek their recommendations as well as
obtaining information from them. This was also to be
considered at a council of war with the captains.l A
certain number of ships were regularly left 'to attend'
on the colonies for their security. When such ships were
left when the main squadron was cruising elsewhere, the
governor of the colony was authorised to give direct orders
to them for the defence of the colony.2

The direction of military and naval forces in the
colonies and on distant stations was, thus, largely in the
hands of local authorities. Operating under broad general
directives, the forces were dependent on the information,
initiative, and resources available to them locally. The
government in London attempted to co-ordinate these affairs
only when it was apparent that local resources were
inadequate. Additional forces were sent to augment those
provided by the trading companies and colonies usually when
it was apparent that they could not themselves provide
what was necessary.

The Machinery for England's conduct of the war
on the Continent and in European waters

Time and distance were as much a factor in controlling

forces in Europe as they were in more distant areas, but

lP.R.O., ADM. 2/34, fos.352-61: Instructions to
Captain W. Kerr, 27 March 1706.

’For example, P.R.O., ADM. 2/1049: Lord High Admiral
to the Governor of the Leeward Islands, 15 February 1704.
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there were also additional complications. As in other
areas, it was a matter of prudence and necessity that
instructions from London be considered at the scene of
action in the light of practicality and recent events.
Commanders-in-chief were directed to govern themselves

. « « by the advice and opinion of a
Council of War, which Council shall
consist of Flag Officers when such
matters are to be therein proposed
and debated as relate only to the
Service at Sea, and of the said
officers, and the Commanders-in-Chief,
and other General Officers of Our Land
Forces, when such things are to be
considered of as relate to the Service
both at Sea and Land.l

Operating under similar instructions in 1706, Lord
Peterborough, Commander-in-~Chief in Spain, complained to
the Ministry that he was uncertain what action he should
take without having exact directions from his superiors in
London. In reply, Godolphin asked him,

. . . is it possible My Lord, to give
positive orders at so great a distance,
and upon services so remote, without

their being liable to be very inconvenient
and even absurd before they come to be
executed, and an order may be very well
grounded and reasonably given in May or
June, with regard to the position of
affairs at that time, and yet that position
and those affairs may be so changed before
July or August when this order comes to

be executed, as to render it neither
practicable nor reasonable. . . .2

The war council was an important aspect in the execu-
tion of orders for it was on the reasoning and authority of

a council that an order could be modified according to the

lB. Tunstall (ed.) The Byng Papers (Naval Records
Soc., lxviii, 1931), p. 203: Instructions to Byng,
8 July 1708.

2New York Public Library, Montague Collection:
Godolphin to [Peterborough], 15 August 1706.
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situation at the scene of action. It was standard
practice to submit the minutes of war councils to higher
authority in support of actions taken. This practice was
brought into question early in the war by the court martial
of Rear-Admiral Sir John Munden for failure to follow his
orders in attacking the French squadron at Corunna in May
1702.l Although Munden was cashiered from service, his
acquittal was based on the validity of a war council's
judgement in such circumstances.2

When the navy was operating jointly with a Dutch
squadron, the procedures to be followed in war council
were specified by treaty.3 Decisions were to be reached
by a strict majority of votes. However, the treaty stipula-
tion that three Dutch ships were to be supplied for every
five English ships insured English predominance in war
council. A Dutch refusal to participate on the basis of
conflicting orders or an absence of orders from the Hague,
could reduce the possibility of success for English forces
acting alone.4

Frequently, it was impossible to know in London what
particular forces were capable of doing in a specific

situation. In that circumstance only a broad indication

could be given and the specific operation had to be worked

lGloucestershire R.O0., MSS. D1833/X4,p. 45: Rooke to
Clark, 29 June 1702.

2P.R.O., ADM. 1/5264: Courts Martial Reports, 1702.

3The Treaty of Westminster, 3 March 1678,and the sup-
plementary agreements of 26 July 1678 and 29 April 1689
which laid down the procedures were renewed by the Treaty
of 11 November 1701.

4An example of such a consideration can be seen in
Blenheim Palace, MSS. C2-33: Whitaker to Sunderland,
16 October 1708.
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out at the scene. 1In 1705, for example, the States-General
voted a resolution urging England to join the Dutch in
sending immediate aid to the Duke of Savoy. In response
to this, orders were sent to the English commanders in
Spain and the Mediterranean directing them to apply to the
King of Spain and the Duke of Savoy for direction and
guidance. The secretary of state commented that this 'is
as much as could be done, or at least all Her Majesty
thought fit, it not being possible at this distance to
judge of the present circumstances and position of affairs
in Catalonia'.l As events unfolded, it proved impossible
to assist Savoy as planned since the Spanish campaign had
not resulted in the easy victory that had been expected.2
Such situations were not uncommon. In 1704, a council of
war decided that it was impracticable for the fleet to
attempt to carry out its instructions for an attack on
Cadiz without an adequate supporting army. Instead, the
council decided to take advantage of the weak defences of
Gibraltar.3 When news of the success of this operation
reached London, the Lord High Treasurer remarked in a letter
to Richard Hill in Savoy, 'Our last news from Sir George
Rooke gave an account that he had possessed himself of
Gibraltar, which I suppose you hear sooner than we; I know

not how far it is tenable, or can be of use to us; those

lBlenheim, MSS. Al-25: Hedges to Marlborough, 11
September 1705.

2New York Public Library, Montague Collection:
Godolphin to [Peterboroughl], 15 August 1706.

3Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 5440,f0.197: Council of
War of Flag Officers on Board HMS Royal Katherine,
17 July 1704.
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at Lisbon will be the best judges and directors of that

matter'.l

Such judgement and direction had to be soundly based
on authoritative information as well as on a firm under-
standing of national policy and objectives. In dealing
with affairs of this nature in Europe and in the Mediter-
ranean, commanders-in-chief necessarily joined with
diplomats. The Government in London expected that diplomats
and senior officers working together would have the
necessary information and judgement to make the appropriate
decisions.2 For example in the summer of 1711, there was
some suspicion that Portugal might make a separate peace
with France. When the Commander-in-Chief of the forces
in Portugal wrote home for directions what he should do if
such a situation arose, he was told by the secretary of
state,

. . . you are to consult with the
Ministers of the Queen and the States
residing at Lisbon, and the Admirals
in the Mediterranean what measures
are proper to be taken, your Lordship
is on the spot where these things are
transacted, you have a perfect knowl-
edge of the situation of the public
affairs, and I am therefore to desire
you will propose what you conceive must
adviseable to be done at such a con-

juncture, upon which at present I can
not send you any further instructions.

lBrit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 37,529, fo.57: Godolphin
to Hill, 15 August 1704.

2For detailed studies of the diplomatic service at
this time, see D. B. Horn, The British Diplomatic Service
1689-1789 (0Oxford, 1961) and H. L. Snyder "The British
Diplomatic Service during the Godolphin Ministry," in
Hatton and Anderson, eds., Studies in Diplomatic History
pp. 47-68.

3P.R.O. S.P. 104/111, fo.137: Dartmouth to Portmore,
26 June 1711.
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The Queen's envoys provided important information
which directly facilitated the conduct of naval and mili-
tary operations. Envoys served as verifying authorities
for the particular needs of their respective courts and
judged the appropriateness of the requests which those
courts made to English commanders. At times, envoys were

specifically instructed to provide intelligence to the

fleet.l

The ability of envoys to serve this function was
largely dependent on their ability to obtain reliable
information.

Oof
course, they received their own instructions from London
as well as further instructions, gazettes, newsletters and
advice from the secretary of state. Equally important were
the complementary sources of information. Many envoys
obtained information from secret agents which they employed
for the purpose, and all envoys abroad were directed to
correspond regularly with English ministers at other courts
for their 'better Information and Direction'.2 Not all this
information was obtained by direct correspondence at the
senior level. The letters written among diplométic

secretaries and by them with the under secretaries of state

in London, provided information which was regularly passed

1Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 37529, fo.76: Hedges to
Hill, 4 May 1705.

2Staffordshire R.0., MSS. D. 649/8/1: 1Instructions
to John Chetwynd, a typical example.
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on to senior diplomats and commanders.l The burden to
provide information for others could become irritating.
One man complained to a friend at another post,

Were you and I divines, lawyers,

physicians, sharpers, stockjobbers,

pickpockets, or any other thing

in the world, but just what we are,

we should take care to let as little

of our profession as possible enter

into our correspondence. . . .2

English diplomats abroad were not merely sources of

information for admirals and generals, they were highly
influential and active participants in war councils.3 In
one case, Richard Hill, a member of the Lord High Admiral's
Council as well as the envoy at Turin, retained direct
control of two frigates and two galleys in the Mediter-

ranean in 1704—05.4

Others served in dual capacities as
diplomat and commander-~in-chief: Lord Galway in Portugal;
Stanhope, Peterborough and Argyll in Spain; Marlborough at
The Hague. Others were officers closely connected to a

commander-in~-chief: Rear-Admiral Sir George Byng in

Algiers, Lord Cutts in Holland, Cadogan in Flanders and

lFor example, Staffordshire, R.0O., MSS. D649/8/17
Henry Watkins to Chetwynd, 7 September 1710; Brit. Lib.,
Addit. MSS. 38,499, fo.8: Watkins to H. Walpole, 7 August
1710, reporting letters read to Marlborough.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 38,500, f0.255: Henry
Watkins to H. Walpole, 19 June 1710.

3For example, Blenheim MSS. C2-17, War Council held
with land and sea officers and Portuguese representatives
at Methuen's home in Lisbon, 20 December 1706.

‘Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 37,529: Hedges to Hill,
3 November 1704. Staffordshire R.0O. D649/15: Chetwynd
to Peterborough, 23 August 1705.
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Holland.l

The co-operation of the allies in the conduct of
operations was a critical matter to the success of many
plans. Lacking a centralized, allied command with the
authority to direct operations, matters had to be settled
through a continual process of war councils and negotia-
tions. It was a method which often irritated the duke of
Marlborough who saw that it destroyed secrecy in planning
and dispatch in execution.2 Despite Marlborough's impa-
tience with the process and its implicit denial of complete
authority, the necessary consultation, negotiation, and
conflicting viewpoints among the allies remained modifying
influences on the course of operations throughout the war.
Time and distance, the situation of affairs on distant
stations, the initiative of commanders and diplomats,
joined with the pressures and needs of the allies in creating
a situation in which plans envisaged and orders issued in
London could easily be modified.

In the area of planning future operations, ministers
abroad and commanders-in-chief played similarly important
roles. On one occasion, London was left in some doubt as
to what course actually had been taken. In 1707, the
Commander-in-Chief of the Mediterranean Squadron was killed

when his flagship was wrecked in the Scilly Isles as he was

lFor a list of diplomats in this period, see D. B.
Horn, British Diplomatic Representatives 1689-1789.
(Camden Soc., 3rd ser. xlvi. 1932).

2B. van 't Hoff (ed.) The Correspondence 1701-1711 of
John Churchill First Duke of Marlborough and Anthonie
Heinsius Grand Pensionary of Holland (Utrecht, 1951),
pp. 198-99, Letter 318. Boston Public Library, Ms. K.5.5:
Marlborough to Somerset, 30 August 1703.
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returning to England. Secretary of State Robert Harley
wrote to the English resident minister in Holland, 'As to
our Marine Affairs the unfortunate loss of Sir Cloudesly
Shovell has left us for some time in the dark for what he
had concerted with the States' Flag concerning the contin-
uance of ships at Lisbon, and the operations in those seas'.

On occasion, even the plan for the negotiation of
treaties was left to those who were abroad. Being provided
with the broad lines of policy, Lord Galway could be
instructed in relation to a new military treaty with
Portugal, 'The Queen leaves the Schemes of the new Treaty
entirely to your Lordship and Mr. Methuen'.2 Similarly
Marlborough was given entire authority to negotiate the
details of troop agreements at The Hague.3

The Dutch capital had a special importance. The close
relationship of England and Holland as well as its own
geographical position made it a key location for the conduct
of negotiations with the allies. In many ways it was 'the
Centre of Business and Intelligence',4 as Harley called it.
Marlborough's association with King William and his long
service at The Hague, between 1701 and 1711, gave him a

special position in addition to his duties as a commander-

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 15,866, f0.66: Harley to
Dayrolle, 6 December 1707.

2Blenheim MSS., Sunderland Letterbook, i, pp. 164-65,
Sunderland to Galway, 20 April 1708.

3p.R.0., F0.90/37, fo.4: Dartmouth to Chetwynd,
11 July 1710; Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/45M: Instructions
to Pultney, 1706; Blenheim MSS., Sunderland Letterbook,
i, p- 160: Sunderland to Marlborough, 13 April 1708.

‘Brit. Lib., Stowe MSS. 248, fo.l: 'Mr. Harley's Plan
for conducting the Business of the Public', 30 October 1710.
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in-chief, ambassador plenipotentiary, Captain-General,
and member of the cabinet in London. Marlborough had been
deeply involved in the negotiations for the Grand Alliance.
Shortly after William III's death, he had been sent to The
Hague to give special assurances to the allies that England
would honour all her treaties and agreements to carry on
the planned alliance. He sailed on this mission with 'a
full Gale of favour' and had in effect the position of an
'Ambassador General' who could give instructions to other
ministers abroad.l The secretary of state advised envoys
that this authority was given only 'on this occasion . . .
as the exigency of affairs shall require'.2 It was clearly
a temporary authority given in a difficult situation to
ensure that all appropriate action was taken in carrying
out the details of a basic decision that had already been
made in London. This was not to be the ordinary method
which Marlborough would follow. Ordinarily, Marlborough
was authorized only to give instructions to other envoys
in regard to the details of troop treaties. Throughout the
war, he took extraordinary care in obtaining authority and
approval for his actions.3 In general, he confined his work
to relations with Holland and Germany, but the central

position of The Hague and the negotiations conducted there

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 7074: Ellis to Stepney,
13 March 1702.

2p.R.0., S.P.104/89, f0.230: Manchester to Blackwell,
13 March 1702.

3The Marlborough-Godolphin Correspondence, i,
pp. Xxiii-iv. For examples of this, see Sir G. Murray,
Letters and Dispatches of John Churchill, duke of
Marlborough, from 1702-12 (London, 1845), i, p. 168;
ii, p. 9; iv, pp. 1l46-7, 216-17.
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relating to Spain, the Mediterranean, Italy, and overseas
involved him also in a wider sphere.l As a distinguished
personality and a victorious commander, Marlborough carried
a special prestige abroad. The Government at home rarely
lost an opportunity to employ his remarkable talents in
support of difficult negotiations.

Marlborough served, like his colleagues in other areas,
as a proponent of English policy as well as being a recip-
ient of suggestions from the allies. Much of the work of
envoys abroad was to persuade the allies to conduct the
war along the lines which England believed was best.
Although a number of factors could easily deflect the plans
made in London, there was a persistent effort to persuade
others to join in England's grand strategy for the war.
Like other responsible officers abroad, diplomats had to
proceed on their own initiative, on occasion, in the light
of what they believed would be an acceptable course of
action. 1In a private letter to Harley, John Methuen
lamented the problems he had faced in bringing Portugal
into the Grand Alliance. 'I was to struggle with a strong

' he wrote, 'who were supported by all

French party here,
the arts and other methods of France which I could no way
deal with but by giving the King of Portugal hopes of

everything from the Allies.'2

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 7074: Ellis to Stepney,
23 December 1701; Marlborough-Godolphin Correspondence,
pP. XXxXii.

2Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/45Y: John Methuen to
Harley, 1 July 1704. Another example of Methuen's
initiative may be seen in his use of unauthorized funds
to support the defence of Gibraltar during the 1704-05
siege. Spencer Research Library, University of Kansas,
MS. E82, f.LI: Methuen to Simpson, 6 February 1705.
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Initiative of this type was not fully approved by
all and could easily cause a storm when the Government
came to review the situation. There were some who appar-
ently opposed the initiative of diplomats, on principle.
Robert Harley admitted to Lord Raby that one of the reasons
for his dismissal as secretary of state in 1708 was his
belief that ministers abroad were not independent enough.
Two years later, Lord Raby could note that 'they have been
much less so since'.l Indeed there were limitations as
to how far a diplomat or commander could go in taking the
initiative, but there were no clear guidelines to follow
for those who undertook the task. It was largely on this
point that the Government in London objected to Lord
Peterborough's conduct in Spain and Italy during 1706—07.2
Peterborough's conflict with the Ministry is a clear
illustration of the dilemma faced by a commander on distant
service. On the one hand it was impractical for the
Government to give exact directions, and it was forced to
rely on the judgement of responsible men at the scene.
On the other hand, a commander risked his appointment if
his initiative and action were not accepted by the Ministry
at home.

Despite limitations, it was essentially a decentralized

system by which those in the field could significantly

influence the conduct of the war. Most importantly, it

lBrit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/45M: Raby to Harley
30 September 1710.

2Blenheim MSS. Cl-16: Draft Sunderland to Peterborough,
c.9 December 1707. For a brief narrative of these
incidents, see William Stebbings, Peterborough (London,
1890) , pp- 105-37.
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was largely on the insight, recommendations and understand-
ing of those who served abroad that the Government in
London based its decisions. The reports from abroad were
the eyes and ears of the Government. In many cases, they
provided England's understanding of events abroad as well
as the logic behind grand strategy.
Summary: The Process of Decision Making

as seen in the Planning for the Capture
of Port Mahon, 1708

One may summarize the process by which decisions were
reached by briefly outlining one typical example. Let us
select for this purpose the capture of Port Mahon which was
so important for the naval war in the Mediterranean.

The strategic value of the island of Minorca with its
large harbour at Port Mahon had been understood in London
for some time. As early as 1701, the Prince of Hesse-
Darmstadt had proposed taking the island as part of his
plan to encourage the revolt of the Catalans.2 In 1704,
Jean Philippe Hoffman, the envoy of King Charles III in
London, proposed it again in a memorial to the Queen,
and the idea was referred to the Prince's Council for
consideration.3 In 1706, the fleet under Sir John Leake

planned to take it with the other Balearic Islands, but

lThe most recent detailed accounts of this action
are H. T. Dickinson, 'The Capture of Minorca 1708',
Mariner's Mirror, 1i (1965), pp. 195-204, and David
Francis, The First Peninsular War, 1702-13, (London,
1975), pp. 267~-72, both of which are based on printed
sources.

2yit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 9720, fo.84: Stepney to
Blathwayt, 3 August 1701.

3p.R.0., S.P. 100/10:Memorial of 4/15 August 1704;
Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/9 sec. 5g:Minutes, 4 August 1704.
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in the end was unable to devote the forces to do so.l
More than a year later, the cabinet debated the issue
'whether it would not be right to make ourselves masters
at Port Mahon and to instruct Sir J. Leake to the
purpose',2 but no instructions were issued at that time.
During that same winter, the envoy in Spain, James
Stanhope, had returned to England on personal business.
In March 1708, he was ordered to return and he went with
a commission as commander-in-chief as well as envoy.
Enroute back to his post, Stanhope accompanied the duke
of Marlborough to The Hague, planning to reach Spain over-
land and consulting the allies enroute. At The Hague he
joined Marlborough, Prince Eugene and the Dutch deputies in
their planning conference for the 1708 campaign. Both
Marlborough and Stanhope reported the results of the con-
ference to London where their letters were dealt with, at
first, by the two secretaries of state, the Lord Chancellor
and the Lord Treasurer.3 One of the major points of dis-
cussion at The Hague conference was the urgent need for the
fleet to operate in the Mediterranean during the winter
when it could support the army in Spain. The Dutch, in
particular, were strongly in favour of the idea and thought
it a very practical proposal. While the army in northern
Europe went into winter quarters, the mild winter weather

in the south afforded the best time for military operations

lKent R.0., Stanhope MSS. 63/19: Leake to Stanhope,
24 September 1706.

2Blenheim MSS. Cl-l6:Cabinet Council Minutes,
Kensington, 28 December 1707.

3Marlborough-Godolphin Correspondence, p. 953.
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in the Peninsula. While the Army was active in Spain and
Portugal, the fleet was needed to support it, but winter
was the most dangerous time for the large ships-of-the-
line to be at sea in the Atlantic. Without a major base
in the Mediterranean with a safe harbour, repair and supply
facilities, it was practically impossible during the winter
to support from England military operations in Spain. This
problem was discussed at a meeting of the cabinet in April
1708, and referred to the Prince's Council for advice.l
In addition, further information and advice was sought from
Stanhope and from the Dutch.2 Stanhope pressed for using
Porto Spezia in Italy as a fleet base, and on this point
he wrote to Marlborough and Godolphin to secure their
support for his views. Marlborough passed his letter on to
the secretary of state, commenting that he approved of the
plan in general, but did 'not enter into the particulars of
what he writes . . . you will be the best judges at home
how far that can be comply'd with'.3 Little progress was
made in London. The Admiralty delayed making its report,
and the Dutch offered little concrete information for

carrying out the proposal they had supported so strongly.4

lBlenheim, MSS. Cl-16: Minutes Cabinet Council,
Kensington, 11 April 1708; P.R.O., ADM. 1/4091 fo.622:
Sunderland to Prince's Council, 13 April 1708.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 15,866, fo.106v: Sunderland
to Dayrolles, 13 April 1708; Blenheim MSS. Sunderland
Letterbook, i. p. 162: Sunderland to Stanhope, 13 April 1708.

3Blenheim MSS. Marlborough Letterbook, xxi, pp. 203-4:
Marlborough to Sunderland, 17 May 1708.

4Blenheim MSS. Sunderland Letterbook, i, pp. 171-2:
Sunderland to Stanhope, 14 May 1708.
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Godolphin saw the great value of the plan, but wondered
'how can it be done with safety?'. Cadiz was surely a
better location, away from the major French base at Toulon
which could so easily sever the links between Spain and

Italy.l

In Spain, the military situation had not improved.
The lack of supplies and ready money threatened the ability
of the army to take the field. Portugal was becoming an
increasingly unreliable source of supply, and the navy was
urgently needed to bring relief and to establish safe and
dependable communications from other areas. As one officer
with the army put it, 'if the Fleet should not come Time
enough . . . we shall be oblig'd to knock all our horses
in the head for want of forage and defend Tarragona and

2 In this

Barcelona with the foot as long as we can'.
situation, King Charles III wrote to London urging that the
stationing of the fleet in the Mediterranean was absolutely
essential to maintaining himself in Spain. On receipt of
this letter, Godolphin and the lords of the committee
prodded the Admiralty to produce its recommendations on the
subject, but Godolphin himself remained quite pessimistic
on the matter.3 The Prince's Council responded immediately
that there was no port readily available in allied hands

which could safely be used to winter the Anglo-Dutch fleet.

The Italian and Spanish ports were not suitable; however,

lKent R.O0., Stanhope MSS. 66/7: Godolphin to
Stanhope, 11 May 1708.

2Blenheim MSS. C2-15C: [?] to Sunderland, 18 June 1708.

3Blenheim MSS. A2-38: Godolphin to Marlborough,
22 June 1708.
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they believed that if Port Mahon could be taken, then the
squadron could safely winter there.l Godolphin immediately
recommended to Stanhope that he and the forces in Spain
'should dispose yourselves without loss of time to be
masters of Port Mahon.'2 When this was accomplished then
London could arrange for a fleet to be sustained there.
Meanwhile, James Craggs was sent from Spain to solicit the
support of the Government for wintering the fleet in Italy,
and the Admiralty unsympathetically reviewed further infor-
mation on the Italian ports.3 When Marlborough received a
copy of the report from the Prince's Council in mid-July
he, too, wrote Stanhope urging him to take Port Mahon.4

By late August, Godolphin's letter arrived in Spain
reporting the opinion of the Prince's Council along with
his own encouragement to take Port Mahon. Upon its
receipt, Stanhope took action. He went immediately to
King Charles III and consulted him on the plan. The fleet
under Sir John Leake was just in the process of an assault

on Sardinia. While troops were embarking at Barcelona,

both Stanhope and King Charles sent urgent messages to

lBlenheim MSS. Cl-6: Burchett to Sunderland,
23 June 1708.

2Kent R.0. Stanhope MSS. 66/7: Godolphin to
Stanhope, 22 June 1708.

3Kent R.O0. Stanhope MSS. 67: J. Craggs to Stanhope,
14 September 1708, and Memorials to Lord Sunderland;
Blenheim Cl-6: Burchett to Boyle, 19 August 1708.

4Blenheim MSS. Marlborough Letterbook xxi, pp. 406-7:
Marlborough to Stanhope, 15 July 1708; p. 418: Marlborough
to Sunderland, 16 July 1708.
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Leake requesting his assistance.l The letters were
received on board Leake's flagship near Cagliari, shortly
after its surrender to the allies, and these requests were
immediately considered at a council of war. The council
agreed to set aside other plans and proceed immediately to
Minorca.2 It was obvious to those on the scene that the
value of the capture of Sardinia would be ruined if a fleet
were not available to maintain the security of regular
grain supplies from that island to the army in Spain.3

In October the news arrived in London by express that
Port Mahon had fallen to the allies on 30 September.4 The
dispatch which brought the news from Stanhope also included
an unexpected development. 'It is my humble opinion,'
Stanhope wrote, 'that England ought never to part with this
island, which will give the Law to the Mediterranean both
in Time of War and Peace'. For this reason, Stanhope
allowed only English troops to man the garrison, but he made
no other move which would disturb the allies.5 Immediately
upon receipt of the news, the Ministry ordered naval stores

and victuals sent from Portugal, and Stanhope was ordered 'to

lBlenheim MSS. C2-32: Charles III to Leake, 23 August
1708; C2-15C: Stanhope to Sunderland, 28 August 1708;
Stanhope to Leake, 24 August 1708.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 5443, fo.284: Council of War
Minutes, 18 August 1708 (o.s.) on board H.M.S. Elizabeth.

3Kent R.0., Stanhope MSS. 66/2: Stanhope to
Marlborough, 24 August 1708.

4Blenheim MSS., Sunderland Letterbooks, ii, pt.i.,
p. 182: Sunderland to Lord Mayor of London, 18/29
October 1708.

5Blenheim, MSS. C2-15c: Stanhope to Sunderland,
30 September 1708 (n.s.).




53

keep secret any thought of keeping Port Mahon in our hands
after Peace'.l In December, the cabinet considered the
matter further, and Stanhope was ordered to initiate appro-
priate negotiations with King Charles III to obtain Minorca
'as some sort of security for the charges and expences'
which England had been at for the war in Spain.2 Negotia-
tions on this point continued for some time and were
eventually included in the peace negotiations at Utrecht.
It was not until November, 1712, that the island was
publicly taken in the name of Queen Anne.3

In this example, one can see the numerous factors at
work in the process by which decisions were made in grand
strategy. One may see the influence of the allies in
promoting the project, the importance and relation of the
existing military and naval situation, the initiative of a
commander-in-chief, the importance of the advice of an
agency such as the Admiralty, the impact and cautiousness
of key members of the cabinet such as Marlborough and
Godolphin, the administrative co-ordination by the secretary
of state, the strategic relationship between army and navy,

the manner in which the cabinet considered proposals that

were made to it, and the way in which it built practically

lBlenheim MSS. Cl-16: Cabinet Minutes, Kensington,
19 October 1708; Sunderland Letterbook, i., p. 277:
Sunderland to Galway, 19 October 1708; p. 229: Sunderland
to Stanhope, 20 October 1708.

2Blenheim MSS. Sunderland Letterbook, i., p. 256:
Instructions to Stanhope, 9 December 1708; MSS. Cl-16:
Minutes Cabinet Council, Cockpit, 7 December 1708. Kent
R.0., Stanhope MSS. 69: Memorial to King Charles III,
18 May 1709.

3Bedfordshire R.0., MSS. WY. 899, p. 6: Argyll to
the Jurate and Vicar-General, 12 November 1712.
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upon them in the light of actions taken in the field. The
lines of command and control for the armed forces coincided
with those of strategic decision making. Sir William
Blackstone's analogy to powers of mechanics may not be
entirely acceptable to a more sophisticated age of engineers,
but it is clear that the elements which impelled the
machinery for grand strategy created an effect which was
distinct from what any one acting by itself might produce,

and at the same time, partook of each and was formed out

of all.



CHAPTER II
ENGLAND'S STRATEGY OF ALLIANCE

The student of grand strategy will find no single
collection of documents which preserves evidence of the
assumptions, ideas, and purposes relating to England's
contribution in the War of the Spanish Succession. One
longs for a detailed series of full cabinet minutes or
the discovery of the secret papers of a strategic direc-
torate in Whitehall. One is left, however, with only the
barely legible scribblings of an occasional minister
jotting notes for himself at a cabinet meeting, a mountain
of orders and instructions, legions of reports, the hum-
drum routine of interdepartmental correspondence, and the
bits and pieces of personal letters strewn in record
offices and libraries across the country and in America.
If one is to know anything of England's grand strategy in
this war, it seems that it must come through the process
of deduction whilst sifting through the papers of those
who actively participated in the process by which grand
strategy was made and carried out. The manner in which
decisions were reached within the English government has
been outlined in Chapter I. The remainder of this study
is based on both the public and private correspondence
among the participants in that process. The foundation of
this study in that wide range of documents is based on the

belief that no single individual expressed fully the
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concept of English strategy, and that the interchange
among government officials, taken as a whole, represented
both the process by which decisions were made as well as
the expression of the Government's viewpoint in the
conduct of the war.

The lack of strategic planning documents in a
twentieth century style makes it necessary to construct
artificially an outline of England's basic strategic view
from disparate sources and varied documents. From these
sources, an attempt is made in this chapter to demonstrate
the underlying concept upon which English strategy was
based. No attempt is made to deal with this issue on a
psychological or sociological level, but rather it is
based on the conscious expression of responsible men. The
general picture which emerges does not necessarily reflect
the actual outcome of events, but it represents the basic
concensus among these men of their stated intentions.

English interests and objectives in
The Spanish Succession Issue

For decades, the central concern in seventeenth
century European politics had been the decline of Spain
as a great power, and the subsequent rise of other nations
to take her place on the world stage. While the France
of Louis XIV was clearly the major power at the end of

the century, other nations were deeply concerned about
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their own positions in a further growth of French power.l
The death of the Spanish King Charles II, on 1 November
1700, brought to an end the line of the House of Habsburg
in Spain. Charles had survived far longer than anyone
had expected, but his death created a critical situation.
One dynasty had ended in Spain, another was needed to take
its place. The prince who would succeed to the Spanish
throne and who would rule the weak nation with its vast
territories around the world, would be in a position that
carried little power of its own in Europe. The political
and family connections which the new prince brought with
him to the throne, however, could profoundly affect the
other European nations by bringing the Spanish dominions
and the trade with Spain and her territories under the
control of one of the major powers.

Both England and the Dutch Republic were deeply con-
cerned. On one hand, the Spanish Netherlands served as a
bulwark of defence for the Dutch if it were controlled by a
third power such as an independent Spain or Bavaria. Under
French control, it could be the avenue of attack from

France as it had so often been in the past. The power

lStudies of English diplomacy in the period 1698-
1701 may be found in M. A. Thomson, 'Louis XIV and the
Origins of the War of the Spanish Succession', in Hatton
and Bromley, William III and Louis XIV, pp. 140-161;
S. B. Baxter, William III (New York, 1966), pp. 364-401;
Wolfgang Michael, 'The Treaties of Partition and the
Spanish Succession' in Cambridge Modern History (New York,
1908), v. 372-400; Sir George Clark, 'From the Nine Years
War to the War of the Spanish Succession' in New Cambridge
Modern History (Cambridge, 1970), vi. 381-409; J. W. Smit,
'The Netherlands and Europe in the 17th and 18th Centuries'
and J. R. Jones, 'English Attitudes to Europe in the 17th
Century' in J. S. Bromley and E. H. Kossman, eds., Britain
and the Netherlands in Europe and Asia (London, 1968),
pp. 13-55.
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which controlled the Spanish Netherlands controlled also
the mouth of the Scheldt with its trade entrepots and
the port of Dunkirk which could so easily be used to
threaten England and to interrupt Anglo-Dutch sea links in
the North Sea. On the other hand, the Dutch and English
trade pattern in America, Asia, the Mediterranean, and to
Spain herself could be diminished or even cut if Spain
became dominated by France. If another prince succeeded
to the Spanish throne, it could be preserved or expanded.
As early as 1698, William III had made it clear to France
that a Bourbon succession to the entire Spanish monarchy
would mean a war with England and the Dutch Republic, as
well as with the Empire which opposed that succession on
dynastic grounds. In the years between 1698 and 1701,
England was actively involved in diplomatic negotiations
which sought a solution to the problem. In the agreements
which were reached, England sought to establish a partition
of Spanish territory which would give the Maritime Powers
a reasonable assurance that they would not be excluded from
any area of trade even though the agreements gave them no
specific rights.

On All Saints' Day, 1700, King Charles II of Spain
died, and the following day his will was opened in the
presence of a large group of nobles. The document
declared that no part of the Spanish monarchy was to be
divided from the main body. The world-wide interests and
possessions of Spain were to be maintained for the next
generation of Spaniards. The renunciations by marriage
into the house of Bourbon were declared valid only to

prevent the union of the Spanish and French Crowns in a
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single person and not a renunciation which would prevent
a French prince from succeeding to the Spanish throne.
Philip, duke of Anjou, the grandson of Louis XIV, was
named in the will as the successor to Charles II as King
of Spain. Failing him, the succession would pass to his
younger brother, the duke of Berry, and thirdly to the
Habsburg Archduke Charles.

The decision was in the hands of France whether the
will of King Charles would be accepted or whether the
principles of the previous Partition treaties would be
followed. After the news of the will was received in
Paris, the subject was considered in detail by the French
government. Opinion on the proper course of action was
divided; however after a full consideration, Louis XIV
accepted the will and proclaimed his grandson, the duke
of Anjou, as King Philip V of Spain.

After the acceptance of the will, it would be
eighteen months before a war was actually declared.
Public opinion in England was divided on the issue. A
large number of people opposed any war as something which
would ruin the nation's commerce and believed that
England should not enter into a war unless she were
attacked.l Others saw that there was little that England
and Holland could do if Parliament insisted on disbanding

the army.2 There was a possibility that France would

e, 7. L. Kramer, ed., Archives ou Correspondence
inédite de la maison d'Orange-Nassau (Leyde, 1909), III,
iii, p. 296. William III to Heinsius, 14 December 1700.
[Hereinafter abbreviated, 'Archives...Orange-Nassau'.]

2Leicestershire R.O. Finch Box 4950, unsigned,
undated letter. [Temp. mid-1700.]
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overrun Spain and that England and Holland would fight
among themselves for the riches of the Indies. Preventing
France from having 'such accession of riches to their
Empire, whereby they will be enabled to give laws by sea
and land to all Europe', could be achieved by using the
English and Dutch navies.l

As Stadholder as well as King, William's first con-
cern was to prevent the Spanish Netherlands from falling
into the hands of France.2 By the very nature of the
events, William saw that despite opinion at home Europe
would not long remain at peace. He thought that the
wisest course of action was to make preparatory agreements
with the northern crowns and with as many of the German
princes as possible.3 Backed by Dutch opinion, he encour-
aged the States-General to begin negotiations in these
matters although he was prevented from doing so in
England. The impeachment of several ministers by Parlia-
ment in the previous year for their part in the partition
treaties made it clear that English involvement in these
continental affairs was not approved by Parliament.

It was not until the sudden movement of French troops
into the Spanish Netherlands during the night of 5 and

6 February 1701 that English opinion changed to a strong

lSee Godfrey Davies, 'The Reduction of the Army
after the Peace of Ryswick, 1697', Journal Soc. Army
Hist. Research, (1950), 28. 15-28.

2

Archives . . . Orange-Nassau, III, iii, 242:
William III to Heinsius, 19 November 1700.
3Archives . . . Orange-Nassau, III, iii, 305:

William III to Heinsius, 17 December 1700; p. 374:
21 January 1701.
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determination to prevent French encroachment.l Secretary
of State Hedges made this clear when he told the English
representative at The Hague,

You will see by the proceedings of

both Houses of Parliament, and

especially the Commons that we are

awake and sensible of the too great

growth of our dangerous neighbour,

and are taking vigorous measures

for the preservation of our selves,

and the peace of Europe.2

In order to achieve these aims, Parliament author-

ized the King to enter into negotiations with other powers
in Europe and to conclude the necessary alliances. In
June 1701, Marlborough was instructed by the King to
continue these negotiations at The Hague 'for the Preserva-
tion of the Liberties of Europe, the Property and Peace
of England, and for reducing the Exorbitant Power of
France'.3 These elements were the basic points upon which
England proceeded in her negotiations for the treaty which
provided for the Grand Alliance of 1701. The treaty itself
outlined the basic issue in its preamble. While objecting
to Louis XIV's claim to the Spanish throne for his grandson,
the treaty deplored the movement of French forces into the
Spanish Netherlands, the Duchy of Milan and the West
Indies. Most importantly, the allies feared that the

succession of Philip in Spain would be a union between

France and Spain which would 'within a short time become

lBrit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 17,677 wWWw, fo. 141:
1l'Hermitage aan Staaten~General, 12 February 1701l.

2p.R.0., S.P. 104/69, fo. 132v: Hedges to Stanhope,
21 February 1701l.

3P.R.O., S.P. 104/69, fo. 152ff: Instructions to
Marlborough, 26 February 1701.
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so formidable to all that they may easily assume to them-
selves the dominion over all Europe'.l The menace of
France in Europe was the basic issue, and it was so impor-
tant that it was repeated by the Queen at her accession
when she declared to the Privy Council in March 1702,

I think it proper upon this occasion of

my first speaking to you to declare my

own opinion of the importance of carry-

ing on all the preparations we are making

to oppose the great power of France. And

I shall lose no time in giving our Allies

all assurances that nothing shall be

wanting on my part to pursue the true

interest of England, together with theirs

for the support of the common cause.?

The central issue for England was to remove French
capacity to dominate Europe. It was not known with cer-
tainty whether France had definite plans to expand her
position and control, but it appeared to England that if
given the opportunity, she would attempt it. England's
objective was to prevent a situation before it occurred.
In his last speech to Parliament, King William had clearly
explained the meaning of the situation for England. By
the placing of the duke of Anjou on the Spanish throne,
France had put herself in a position by which she could
dominate Europe. William believed that France would
become the real master of Spain and that Louis XIV could
dispose of Spanish affairs as if they were his own. The
imminent expansion of French power in Spain, Italy, the

Netherlands and overseas was a threat. Although peace

continued in name, the other nations of Europe were forced

lA. Browning, ed., English Historical Documents,
1660~-1714 (London, 1953), wviii, 873, 'The Treaty of
Grand Alliance, 1701°'.

2P.R-0-, C.0. 324/8, fo. 40: 'Her Majesty's Gracious
Declaration at Her first sitting in the Privy Council at
St. James', 8 March 1702.
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to arm themselves and to prepare for war in order to
defend themselves from possible attack. This sudden
growth of French power affected England in her most sensi-
tive areas, the King said,

In respect to our Trade, which will

soon become precarious in all the

valuable Branches of it; in respect

to our Peace and Safety at Home,

which we cannot hope should long

continue, and in respect to that

part which England ought to take

in the Preservation of the Liberty

of Europe.l
The English representative in Switzerland had put the
issue more bluntly. 'Nothing but force or some blow to
the French prosperity will make them tractable . . .,' he
wrote, 'You can have no security but their weakness.'

The physical security of the Dutch Republic was
directly threatened by the French troop movements into the
Spanish Netherlands. The connection between the security
of Holland and that of England had been long understood as
had the strategic importance of the Channel's far shore
for England's defence.3 There was a clear danger if an
enemy obtained unimpeded control of the continental coast
east of the Dover Strait. After all, it had been a 'Prot-

estant', easterly wind which had allowed William to sail

past the English Fleet, immobilized by wind and tide in

lJournal_of the House of Lords, xvii, p. 6,
31 December 1701.

2P.R.O., S.P. 94/75: Aglionby to Mr. Secretary,
13 July 1701.

3See for example, H. A. Lloyd, The Rouen Campaign
1590-92' (Oxford, 1973), pp. 37, 70; J. E. Neale, Queen
Elizabeth I (New York, n.d.), pp. 237-8.
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the Thames estuary, and to land at Torbay in 1688.l

The methods of William's invasion were well remembered
a dozen years later as were also the reasons for his suc-
cession to the throne. The death of Anne's son, the young
duke of Gloucester, meant the end of the Stuart dynasty in
England and the need to settle the succession anew.2 In
1701, Parliament made provision for this in the Act of
Settlement. After Anne, the Crown was to go to the
nearest Protestant heir, the dowager Electress Sophia of
Hanover. The right of Parliament to regulate the succes-
sion had been established only in 1689, and it had been
tacitly accepted by Louis XIV in the Peace of Ryswick in
1697. The Act of Settlement by Parliament was an expres-
sion of English opinion; it was no guarantee against
foreign intervention in the English succession. The
presence of William's predecessor, the Catholic James II,
at the court of Louis XIV was not reassuring in any way.
The Prussian representative in London observed that the
union of France and Spain presented a direct threat to the
protestant interest in England. 1Indeed, many believed
that the continued growth of Catholic power abroad was a

threat to destroy Protestantism in England.3 In Vienna,

lClyve Jones "The Protestant Wind of 1688: Myth and
Reality," European Studies Review, 3 (1973), p. 21l6.

2For a general studies of this see, M. A. Thomson,
'The Safeguarding of the Protestant Succession, 1702-18°
in Hatton and Bromley, William III and Louis XIV, pp. 237-
251; J. P. Kenyon, Revolution Principles, The Politics of
Party 1689-1720 (Cambridge, 1977), and G. E. Gregg, "The
Protestant Succession in international politics, 1710-16,"
(University of London Ph.D. thesis, 1972).

3Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 30,000E, fos.6-7: Bonet to
Frederick, 21 January 1701.
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George Stepney despaired that he could never persuade the
Emperor to assist wholeheartedly in England's objectives.
He feared that the Emperor would achieve his own goals
secretly through the mediation of the Pope and the Jesuits,
'and then leave us to struggle as well as we can for our
Liberties and Religion whenever France or Spain shall join
together to impose upon us a Prince of Wales, a Duke of
Berry or anybody else'.1

A few days following the signing of the Grand Alliance
at The Hague, James II died. Immediately, Louis XIV pro-
claimed his son as King James III of England, Scotland and
Ireland. The immediate and unqualified public recognition
of the o0ld pretender as King shocked England. William
immediately ordered the absolute revocation of the English
ambassador in Paris without taking leave of the court2 and
at the same time, he ordered the dismissal of the French
representative in London. The French recognition of the
'pretended Prince of Wales' puzzled Englishmen and left
grave doubts as to French intentions. The recognition
seemed a direct challenge to Parliament's right to regulate
the succession to the throne and to the very principles
established by the settlement of the Glorious Revolution.
Coming at a time when relations were very tense in Europe
and when Louis XIV had just forbidden his subjects to trade
with England, it seemed the greatest provocation possible

to England short of an outright attack. Amazed by this

lBrit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 9720, fos.3-5: Stepney to
Blathwayt, 1 June 1701.

2prit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 21,489, fo.5l: A. Stanhope
to Blathwayt, 23 September 1701.
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series of events, the English representative at The Hague
commented, 'Whom God designs to destroy he infatuates
first, and makes them do their own business themselves'.l

At home, Parliament was stirred to take direct action.
Early in 1702, the House of Commons passed a resolution
which asked King William to insert, in all treaties of
alliance with other powers, an article which stated that
no peace shall be made with France until England

shall have reparation for the great
indignity offered by the French King,
in owning and declaring the pretended
Prince of Wales King @f England,
Scotland and Ireland.

The addition of this article to the treaty of Grand
Alliance, and its subsequent ratification by the Emperor
and the Dutch Republic,3 was recognition by the allies of
one of England's major objectives. She sought the acknowl-
edgement by the European powers that the parliamentary
title of a protestant line to the throne of England was
superior to the hereditary title of a catholic line. 1In
seeking this acknowledgement, England was attempting to
remove the threat of foreign intervention in an issue which
had already been settled satisfactorily at home.

In the treaty of Grand Alliance, the Emperor agreed
to allow the Dutch and English to have title to any con-

quests which they should make in the West Indies. While

there was some popular support for this idea in England

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 21,489, fo.5l: A. Stanhope
to Blathwayt, 23 September 1701l.

2Commons Journals, xiii, p. 665, 10 January 1702.

3P.R.O., S.P. 108/131: Emperor's ratification,
22 March 1702; S.P. 108/337: Dutch ratification,
8 June 1702.
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and in Holland, the Government was clearly aware of the
practical difficulties which it implied. Secretary of
State Vernon advised Marlborough to keep this provision
secret during the negotiations because the poor condition
of defences in the English West Indian colonies made them
highly vulnerable to a retaliatory attack by the French.l
William Blathwayt, who had had much experience in the
management of colonial affairs, was in Holland as the King's
private secretary when the article was being discussed at
The Hague. The Spaniards in the West Indies, he believed,
'will never endure our having the civil and ecclesiastical
governments, nor is it valuable to us but on the con-
trary. . . .'2 The article would have to be carefully
worded in order to express properly English interests. If
it were improperly worded it could possibly defeat English
objectives and even lead to the destruction of trade rights
in that area.3 In Blathwayt's opinion, the proper objective
for England was to 'desire nothing more than that all that
Dominion belonging to Spain be declared to be vested in the
House of Austria under the protection of England and

Holland till the Emperor or the Archduke be in a condition

to maintain it themselves'.4 Blathwayt believed that the

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 40,775, f£0.55: Vernon to
Marlborough, 5 August 1701. On the condition of the
colonies see, Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 34,348, fo.135:
Christopher Codrington to Board of Trade 8 June 1701 .

°p.R.0., S.P. 105/63, fos.346-7: Blathwayt to
Stepney, 26 August 1701.

3prit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 9,722, fo.128: Blathwayt
to Marlborough, 28 August 1701.

4p.R.0., S.P. 105/63, fo0.432: Blathwayt to Stepney,
9 September 1701.
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Emperor's offer in the treaty was too liberal for English
interests. Since the Spaniards in America would undoubt-
edly loath the government of heretics (as certainly they
viewed Anglicans), 'they will rather choose the House of
Bourbon, than liberty under Protestants'. Under those
conditions, the Spanish West Indies would be far better
under the House of Austria with freedom given to English
trade.l

Very much in line with Blathwayt's views, the
squadron in the West Indies was instructed to protect
English trade in the areas and to defend the colonies
there. The Admiral was told 'to improve the opportunity
of the strength' he had with him by attacking and seizing
enemy ships 'annoying them at land', and treating them as
enemies in retaliation for the orders that the French had
to attack English possessions in America. No authorization
was given to seize territory in the name of England.2 In
February 1702, even before the declaration of war, Admiral
Benbow was directed to encourage the Spanish colonial
governments in the West Indies to withdraw from the sub-
jection of France and 'to assure them that if they will
assert their own Liberty, we will be ready to give them all
assistance and protection'. If they declared for the House
of Austria, England would maintain good correspondence and
protect their trade in accordance with the treaties made

with the Emperor. However, if they sought to establish

lP.R.O., S.P. 105/63, fo.331l: Blathwayt to Stepney,
19 August 1701.

2Huntington Library, MSS. BL343: Lords Justices
Instructions to Selwyn, 23 October 1701.
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a government of their own, Benbow was directed to disen-
gage them from all dependence on France. The most
effective way by which a mutual confidence could be
developed, the Admiral was advised, was by establishing
a free trade with Englishmen.l After war had been
declared, and England had entered into direct negotiations
with the Dutch concerning the joint naval forces which
would be conducted in the West Indies, Secretary of State
Lord Nottingham instructed Marlborough,

. . « we do not pretend to make

conquests there for ourselves to

support the interests of the

House of Austria, . . . we shall

reap no private benefit but that

of a free trade there which in

case of success gan never be

denied us. . . .
It was not dominion, but trade which England sought. The
article in the treaty of Grand Alliance was the result of
negotiations for that more important objective. The basic
agreement by the Dutch and English to obtain for the
Emperor, the Spanish Netherlands, the Duchy of Milan,the isands,
Naples and Sicily was reciprocated by the Emperor yielding
in return to the Dutch and English what they could take in
the West Indies. As Blathwayt had noted, this was too
generous, for the territories which the Allies proposed to
procure for the Emperor were those which they themselves

sought to have in the Emperor's hands as a barrier against

France or as necessary to the safety of their carrying on

lP.R.O., S.P. 44/206~7, fos.l1l3-15: Instructions to
Benbow, 19 February 1702.

2Northamptonshire R.O0. Finch-Hatton, MSS. 275, fo.34:
Nottingham to Marlborough, 26 June 1702.
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trade in the Mediterranean.l

The basic objectives which England sought on entering
the war were the maintenance of the security of the
British Isles and the continuation of the English govern-
ment without interference from abroad. In that regard,
in particular, she sought the acknowledgement of the
Protestant succession to the English throne. Thirdly,
England sought to maintain and to improve her commercial
prosperity by asserting the claim of her subjects to free
and unhindered trade.

In achieving these ends, England used two means to
characterize publicly her objectives. In terms of prac-
tical politics, she supported the Habsburg candidate for
the Spanish throne,2 and in theoretical terms, she
explained her position in terms of a European balance of
power.

The violent opposition of Parliament to the Partition
treaties of 1698 and 1700 had taught the Government not
to risk that policy again and to face the impeachment
proceedings which previous ministers of state had under-
gone. In negotiating the treaty of Grand Alliance the
Government was aware of objections which could be made to
the treaty. Sending back the ratification of the Treaty

under the great seal, Secretary Vernon congratulated

lP.R.O., S.P. 105/63, fo.l1l52: Stepney to Blathwayt,
10 August 1701.

2Many historians have assumed that support for
gaining the entire Spanish monarchy was the major English
objective following the Portugal treaty in 1703, and not
merely a means to another end. See for example, P. J.
Welch, 'Maritime Powers and the Evolution of War Aims of
the Grand Alliance', (University of London, M. A. thesis,

1940).
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Marlborough on the success of his mission,

. « «» you will be satisfied that all

who have been acquainted with it

approve it and tho it implies a kind

of partition I hope it will not be 1

clamoured at as the last was. . . .
Parliamentary opinion at home was only one reason for
being cautious in dealing with the topic of partition.
More importantly to the conduct of foreign relations, the
idea of partition was suspect among some of the Allies.
The Emperor had consistently demanded the entire Spanish
monarchy as the Habsburg inheritance. At the same time
it was obvious to the English Ministry that the Italian
territories of Spain were much more interesting to the
Emperor than the Indies or Spain itself. The English
support for the earlier partition treaties, and the word-
ing in the Treaty of Grand Alliance, made the Emperor
suspicious that England's interest in Spain was merely to
divide it. However, England's major strategy was to
establish a strong alliance as the means to achieve her
basic objectives. The urgent need to create and to main-
tain an effective alliance was a key point which coloured
much of England's diplomacy in 1701 and in the years which
followed. In order to obtain the Emperor's support for
the Grand Alliance, England repeatedly assured the Emperor
and his representatives that nothing would be more preju-

dicial to the present state of affairs than the partition

of the Spanish monarchy.2 The course of events since 1700

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 40,775, £f0.140: Vernon to
Marlborough, 9 September 1701.

2prit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 7,058, fo.l5l: Hedges to
Stepney, 20 November 1702.



72
had altered somewhat England's view of partition. It was
apparent that French military movements would prevent the
favourable partition of the Spanish monarchy which had
been conceived earlier. A war which placed the Habsburg
candidate on the Spanish throne over the entire Spanish
inheritance would ensure that England would achieve her
objectives. At the same time, negotiations to bring
Portugal into the Grand Alliance brought out Portuguese
fears that she would be gravely endangered if she sup-
ported the Allies during the war and then was left open
to revenge from a Spain which had been partitioned and
returned to the Bourbons after the war.l The English
commitment in the treaty with Portugal to the restoration
of Spain to the Archduke Charles was not a major change of
policy. The statement of it was the price of a Portuguese
alliance, and it expressed a viable political means by
which England could achieve her ends. The treaty with
Portugal, however, was not a strong enough expression of
this means to suit all. Lord Nottingham remarked to
George Stepney that there was still room for the Emperor
to be suspicious of England. The words of the Portuguese
treaty and all the negotiations were carried out with the
intention of obtaining the entire monarchy, however, the
forms of the renunciation involved in this treaty speci-
fied only Spain and the Indies, not the entire monarchy.
In order to reassure the Emperor completely, the Queen

was willing to add to the treaty of Grand Alliance another

1D. Francis, The Methuens and Portugal 1691-1708
(Cambridge, 1966), pp. 118-19.
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article which expressly excluded the House of Bourbon
from every part of the Spanish monarchy. While instruct-
ing Stepney to begin negotiations on this point,
Nottingham explained his private reasons for supporting
this action. The partition of the Spanish monarchy he
said, particularly if Milan were assigned to the Emperor,
would in all probability cause difficulties for England.
The Emperor would be encouraged to pursue further con-
quests in Italy which would make the Italian princes turn
toward France for protection and disturb Spain. Therefore,
Nottingham concluded, it could not be in England's interest
to allow any course of action which might separate Naples
and Sicily from the Spanish monarchy. If this should
occur, it might well cause a disruption of English trade
in the Mediterranean and prolong the war far beyond
England's ability to bear.l When Stepney received this
letter, he replied that England's assurance that 'no part

of the Spanish Monarchy shall remain under any Branch of

the House of Bourbon' was the principle most likely to

convince the Emperor to do what England proposed in send-
ing a military expedition to Spain with the Archduke
Charles.2 In 1705, some Dutchmen began to doubt England's
purposes in supporting the idea to obtain the entire
Spanish monarchy. They suspected that it was only a ruse
to lengthen the war for profit instead of securing a

proper barrier to the Dutch Republic. In disgust at this

lNorthamptonshire-R.O., Hatton-Finch MSS. 277,
fo.30-31: Nottingham to Stepney, 1 June 1703.

’p.R.0., S.P. 80/21, fo.34v: Stepney to Hedges,
13 June 1703. Stepweys "Talics.
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viewpoint, Secretary Harley commented,

. « « there cannot be a cleaner
proposition than that it is the
only way to a secure peace, and
if the honest people of Holland
will not give way they may have
it quickly, instead of a rotten
whimsical Barrier. They ought
to know that England has a way
of being secure without giving
so much attention to those projects.

In the viewpoint of the English Government at the
outset of the war, it was apparent that England's support
for obtaining the entire Spanish monarchy was an accept-
able means by which she sought to achieve the conditions
to achieve her larger goals. Spain, itself, was not the
major concern, but support for the entire Spanish monarchy
under a Habsburg prince would block French ambitions at
the same time that Spain remained relatively weak. While
the Emperor's ambitions for his son and his family would
be satisfied, the Emperor, himself, would be prevented
from obtaining any further power in Italy. The Spanish
Netherlands would continue to serve as a defensive area
of safety for the Dutch. At the same time, a strong
defensive alliance against France could be created in
Europe which could have the support of most of the key
nations. By balancing Habsburg and Bourbon interests in
this way, England saw a way to secure her own safety and
to maintain her trade abroad.

Throughout the period, English statesmen continually

referred to the theory of balance of power in justifying

their policies, but this was no vague theoretical notion.

lBlenheim MSS. Al-25: Harley to Marlborough,
15 December 1705.
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It was an expression of a setting in international
relations in which England could best achieve her specific
goals and objectives.l Marlborough's instructions to
carry out negotiations at The Hague in forming the Grand
Alliance specified England's objectives and declared that
Parliament had assured the King that it would support any
agreement made for the Preservation of the Liberties of
Europe.2 In considering the possibility of peace negotia-
tions in 1706, the secretary of state spelled out more
precisely what the Government meant. 'The Queen and
States have no other aim,' he wrote, 'than to restore the
Balance of Power in Europe that everyone may securely
enjoy what appertains to them by right.'3 In another
document, he spoke of 'restoring such a Balance of Power
as may lend to our common security, and not leave the
rights and liberties of Europe precarious or liable to be

insulted by any one Potentate.'4 And again he wrote,

lThe objectives of balance of power diplomacy, in
general, have been the subject of an extensive debate.
For summary articles concerning this point, see Werner
Hahlweg, 'Barriere-Gleichgewicht-Sicherheit: eine Studie
uber die Gleichgewichts-politik und die Strukturwandlung
des Staatensystems in Europa, 1646-1715', Historische
Zeitschrift, 187 (1959), 54-89; Jacob Viner, 'Power versus
Plenty as objectives of foreign policy in the seventeenth
and eighteenth century', World Politics; (1948), 1-29.
An extreme view, charging England with using balance of
power diplomacy as a means to achieve her own form of
universal monarchy through sea power may be found in Adolf
Rein, 'Uber die Bedeutung der uberseeischen Ausdehung fur
das europaische Staatensystem', Historische Zeitschrift
137 (1928), 28-90.

2P.R.O., S.P. 104/69, fo.l1l52: Instruction to
Marlborough, 26 June 1701.

3Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/9/34: ©Undated memo in
Robert Harley's hand.

4Longleat House, Portland MSS., v: Draft Instructions
to Marlborough, 10 April 1706.
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'This is our interest. We have no views but security to
ourselves and security to our allies in the just enjoyment
of the Liberty and rights of each nation.'l
For England, then, the objectives which she sought in

maintaining her security at home, in defending her
national, political independence within Europe, and in
promoting the growth of her trade required a situation in
which no single power was in a position to threaten
England's position. The possible union of France with
Spain presented a direct threat to obtaining this neces-
sary condition, and the best way to prevent this in terms
of the current European political situation seemed to be
by establishing the Habsburg contender firmly on the
Spanish throne and by ensuring his inheritance of the
entire Spanish monarchy. In practical terms, this view
was one which was most likely to gain England the support
of allies whose assistance was necessary to prevent the
expansion of French power into Spain and Spanish Terri-
tories abroad. This in turn would prevent French domina-
tion of maritime trade in America, the Mediterranean, and

Spain, itself, by establishing a government in Spain
which was inclined to be friendly to England and her allies.
It would remove the threat to the security of England and
the Dutch Republic represented by French control of the
Spanish Netherlands. Finally, it would bring international
recognition to the Revolution settlement in England while

at the same time directly defeating the foreign power which

lBrit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/9/37: Memorandum,
31 August 1706.
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openly supported the Jacobite cause. In practical terms,
England's emphasis on the idea of the balance of power
within Europe and her support for the Habsburg inheritance
cf the entire Spanish monarchy were both means by which
she sought to maintain and to use her power in order to

ensure her own security, independence and profit.

The Necessity for Alliance

The events which occurred between 1700 and 1702
reveal that England had a particular concept of the method
and function which an alliance against France would serve.
Without an effective alliance, England felt extremely
uneasy about the conduct of a war. No single document has
been found which adequately expresses England's strategy
of alliance, but one can piece together the reasons for
an alliance through its usage during the War of the
Spanish Succession. In a letter to the Secretary of State,
George Stepney expressed some of the dangers as well as
the necessity for the alliance, when he wrote,

. . . unless the allies can be brought
to concert their operations and to act
in favour of one another, according as
they see the danger to be most urgent;
the French will make their advantage of
our distractions, and after they have
been allowed to destroy the circles of
Franconia and Swabia (which have fre-
quently and justly been reputed the 2
bastions of the Empire) they will be
at leisure to attack the Confederacy on
another side with the superioritX of
force and with the like success.

The value of the alliance was not merely as a security

or defence against French armies. It was designed as a

lP.R.O., S.P. 80/20, fo.354: Stepney to Hedges,
9 May 1703.
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means of active pressure against France. As England
conceived it, the war would be fought and the ends of the
alliance achieved by the participation of all the allies
in an offensive war of direct attack on France. Through-
out the entire course of the war, England continually
urged her allies along this course of action. Secretary
Boyle's directions to Palmes at Vienna in 1709 were
typical '. . . Her Majesty is extremely solicitous that
all the members of the Confederacy should make their utmost
efforts in this conjuncture for carrying on the war against
France with vigour, which without doubt is the only
effectual means to obtain a good Peace'.l

After the battle of Blenheim, Harley had advised the
English envoy to the States General, 'that an unactive
war . . . is the dangerousest council they can follow and
a vigorous prosecution of the late success will sooner
restore them trade and peace'.2 England consistently
maintained that an active, strategically co-ordinated use
of armed force was necessary if the allies were to achieve
their objectives through warfare.

An active, offensive war was an essential ingredient
to the grand strategy for the war, but that alone could not
achieve success. France was the major power in Europe; it
was no simple matter to challenge her militarily. William
III saw the nature of the problem and designed the alliance

to deal with it. On the Stadholder's encouragement, the

lP.R.O., S.P. 104/40: Boyle to Palmes,
27 December 1709.

2P.R.O., S.P. 104/72, fo.38: Harley to A. Stanhope,
30 December 1704.
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States General urged the Imperial Diet 'to declare war
against France, that the Princes concerned therein may
be required to furnish their quota and that those troops
which the Emperor designs for the Rhine may be sent
hither early, so that the enemy may be attacked on all
sides at once'.l This very point was elaborated on again
when Stepney wrote two months later to announce the news
that the King of the Romans would command the Imperial
Army on the Rhine, in person. 'We may hope,' he wrote,
that 'our armies in Italy and in the Netherlands may have
a fair field action, not being likely to be overpowered
with unequalled numbers, since the French will have full
employment on all hands.'2 The key point in English
strategy was the maintenance of active armies in several
theatres which would force France to disperse her troops.
It seemed hardly possible to the English Government that
victory could be achieved on the continent by one army
alone. As the treaties with Portugal were about to be
concluded in 1703, Nottingham advised Marlborough that the
ability of the allies to comply with the provisions of
this new treaty would depend largely on the success which
they had together in the war. 'I do not doubt of success
in the parts under your command,' the secretary of state
wrote, 'yet I fear even that will not be sufficient for
such a detachment from your army as this treaty will

require unless matters in Germany be more prosperous than

lP.R.O., S.P. 104/201, fo.3: Stepney to Hedges,
28 December 1701.

2P.R.O., S.P. 80/18: Stepney to Vernon,
8 March 1702.
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as yet seem likely.'l From the very outset of the war,
it was clear that no one theatre of the war overshadowed
others. 1In the English view, it was the balance amongst
the different theatres which would defeat France. 1In
June 1706, Secretary Hedges advised Methuen, '. . . it is
absolutely necessary for his [Charles III's] interest in
particular, as well as that of the whole Confederacy that
the war in Italy be kept up for should the duke of Savoy
by reduced and that war at an end, the French would then
be at liberty to pour their forces into Spain'.2 An
English diplomat in Savoy made a similar comment in 1704:

. . . the Enemies have now above 100

Battalions and so many Squadrons of

horse which melt like snow in this

warm sun every summer, which are of

infinite expence to the French King,

and which will be upon the Rhine or

the Maese next summer, if nothing is

done to employ them here.3

Following the disastrous allied defeat at Almanza in

Spain, Lord Sunderland wrote Marlborough with a similar
thought in mind. 'I am glad to find,' he wrote, 'vou will
take the field as soon as tomorrow, all our hopes is that
you in Flanders, and the duke of Savoy on that side will
retrieve our misfortune in Spain.'4 Shortly after receiv-

ing the news of the failure of the Toulon expedition in the

same year, Godolphin expressed again the same basic

lp.R.0., 5.P. 49/209, £0.26: Nottingham to
Marlborough, 2 April 1703.

p.R.0., S.P. 104/207, £0.109: Hedges to Methuen),
11 June 1706.

>staffordshire R.0., MSS. D649/8/2, fo.125: Chetwynd
to Hedges, 26 August 1704.

4Blenheim MSS. A2-24: Sunderland to Marlborough,
9 May 1707.
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strategic concept:

Spain can't be supported this winter

without Prince Eugene and some troops

from Italy and Italy can't be made

useful next year to the Common Cause,

but by putting the Duke of Savoy at

the head of an Army to act offensively

against France. . . . When these

things are well provided for France

will be less able to have any great

superiority either upon the Rhine

or in Flanders. . . .1

The point to be noted here is that not only was

England fully aware of a relationship among the fronts,
but also that the need to strike France within her own
borders was an important part of this strategy. 1In dis-
cussing plans for the campaign of 1707, Marlborough
touched on this point with the Deputies of the States-
General. 'The Court of Vienna should be immediately writ
to,' they agreed, 'to dissuade them from the Expedition of
Naples, and to press them in the most earnest manner to
proceed with the greatest vigour on the design of entering
France, as the only means left to redress our affairs in
Spain. . . .'2 Despite the interest of some of the allies
in obtaining territory and defeating French forces in
places such as Naples, England saw such expeditions as
secondary and less important ones. Her strategy was de-
signed to achieve a position in which the allies could
directly injure France, and force her to change her general

policies.

This consistent policy of strategically related

lBlenheim MSS. A2-23: Godolphin to Marlborough,
7 September 1707.

°p.R.0., S.P. 87/2, fos.589v.-90: Marlborough to
Harley, 10 May 1707.
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military operations continued after Godolphin's fall from
power in 1710. Shortly after the change in the Ministry,
Secretary Boyle outlined the policy to be followed after
the allied victories at Almenara and Saragossa. He ordered
the diplomats in Vienna to press the Imperial Court to keep
its army in Piedmont in the field as long as possible,
'. . . Her Majesty thinking it of the greatest importance
for improving our late great success in Spain to give as
much diversion as possible to the enemy on all sides. . . .'l
By 1711, when the Harley Government was firmly in

power, Secretary St. John repeated the same strategy when
he ordered Lord Peterborough to encourage the duke of
Savoy to lead a powerful diversion into Provence or
Dauphiné.

Many advantages would result to the

Common Cause from such a measure.

Spain would be relieved; our Army in

Flanders would be able to penetrate

further into the enemy's country,

and France would be in no condition

to act offensively on the Rhine and

to penetrate one side into the Empire

whilst the King of Sweden does the

same thing on another.

As the English government saw clearly that the rela-

tionship between the allied armies was the key to victory,
it saw, at the same time, that the lack of strategic
co-ordination meant defeat. Allied forces could not keep

the field if the French were allowed to bring their over-

whelming forces to bear in a single theatre. Secretary

lP.R.O., S.P. 104/40: Boyle to Palmes,
29 August 1710.

2P.R.O., S.P. 104/40: St. John to Peterborough,
13 February 1711.
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St. John stated this view very clearly to Lord Raby when
he noted, 'If the French should reinforce their Army on
the Rhine from Dauphiné&, We ours from Flanders, and the
Duke of Savoy remain in a state of inaction, our condition
would be bad indeed'.l

It was essential to the basic strategy of the Alliance
that the allies concert their operations and act in support
of one another. In this way, they could thwart danger as
well as take advantage of opportunities to defeat France.
This idea was i1illustrated in 1711 when Queen Anne signed
her instructions for Charles Whitworth's special mission
to Vienna at the time of the Imperial Election. '. . . You
will urge the situation of our affairs in general both in
Flanders and on the Rhine as well as in Spain,' Whitworth
was told, 'and show that there is no scheme so likely to
give immediate ease to the War in all parts, and particu-
larly in Spain, as a vigorous diversion on the side of
Piedmont. . . .'2 The Government in London saw that a
vigorous attack on southeastern France, at that juncture
in the war, could substantially alter the 'face of affairs'.
In order to be effective in these operations, the allies
needed to make France realize that her borders were not
secure, and that she was threatened on all sides by armies
willing to move against her simultaneously. Whitworth was

ordered to emphasize to the Imperial Court, 'The danger we

run of losing the fruits of the treasure we have spent and

lp.R.0., S.P. 84/241, fo0.107: St. John to Raby,
8 May 1711.

2p.R.0., S.P. 104/214, f0.209: Instructions to
Whitworth, 29 May 1711.
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of the blood we have spilt in the course of this decisive
war unless we can make such an effort as will break in
upon the fences with which France is surrounded. . . .'l

A picture emerges from the evidence which shows
England's grand strategy clearly based on an alliance which
was intended to conduct an offensive war on all sides of
France. English statesmen and commanders understood that
the allied armies in Spain, Portugal, Italy, Germany, and
the Low Countries were interrelated in so far as they
contributed to dividing French forces and preventing France
from concentrating her superior strength on any one front.

England's broad conception of war strategy required
resources far beyond the capacity of any single nation to
supply. England and Holland were the leading financial
centres of Europe.2 Together they were 'the two branches'3
of the war which provided the major proportion of the
money to finance the war. Although England and Holland
were, in this sense, the most important of the allies, the
strategic conception for fighting the war required addi-
tional allies. They were required for two major reasons:
first, the geographical position of France; and second, a
source for fighting men.

In 1702, George Stepney wrote to the secretary of

state recommending an Austrian plan for a drive from Trier

1p.R.0., S.P. 104/214, f0.209: Instructions to
Whitworth, 29 May 1711.

2For a general survey of this subject, see P. G. M.
Dickson 'War Finance 1689-1714', in the New Cambridge
Modern History, vi, Ch. 9.

3Brit. Lib., MSS. Loan 29/9, section 22: Memorandum,
19 October 1705.
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into Northern Lorraine and Luxembourg. 'If you consider
the situation of those countries on the map,' Stepney
wrote, 'you will agree that the mortal wound may be given
on that side.' Although the Austrians had proposed a
detachment from Marlborough's army in the Low Countries,
Stepney suggested

A detachment of our German auxiliaries

may be most proper for that service,

I mean the troops of Liineberg,

Prussia, Hesse or Miinster who will

have but a short march directly from

Maestricht or that neighbourhood, and

will have_the benefit of good winter

guarters.
Troops, geography and position relative to France were the
most important considerations in England's view of the
allies. One may see another example of this in the first
year of the war when thought was being given to attracting
Bavaria into the alliance. 'If the proper methods be taken
for it,' Godolphin wrote, 'we may gain the elector of
Bavaria to our side, but unless we can have the advantage
by it of strengthening Prince Eugene's army in Italy, I
doubt we may pay too dear for his friendship.'2 The addi-
tional troops which Bavaria could provide would be useful
only if they could be used to create a force superior in
numbers to that which the French could gather. The exist-
ence of an additional army in Bavaria would be of little use

by itself. The availability of additional troops from the

allies was necessary to fill out the numbers and to make

lP.R.O., S.P. 80/19, fo. 226: Stepney to Hedges,
11 October 1702.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,588, fos. 155-8:
Godolphin to Nottingham, 30 August 1702.
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an effective and superior force in the field. 1In 1703,
Stepney underlined the use of these additional troops
when he commented, that with additional auxiliary troops
'our forces will be at least equal to the French both on
the Rhine and in Italy'.l The same viewpoint, in a
slightly different context, may be seen in 1707 when the
@Government was considering its strategy in the event that
the allied attack on Toulon should succeed. In that case,
it was apparent that the primary need was to reinforce
the duke of Savoy's army in order to maintain his position
on French territory. 'There is no easier way of doing
that, than by inducing the Venetians to enter into the
Alliance and to let us have some ten or twelve thousand
of their troops,' the secretary of state wrote.2 In that
way, a clear superiority in numbers could be maintained.
In assessing the strategic situation in any theatre, it
was common to calculate in terms of troop numbers, using
the total number that could be put into the field from all
sources. The important point was the number of effective
men in the field that could face the French from whatever
source they could be obtained. It was on the basis of
this manner of calculating relative strength that army
commanders usually assessed the chances of their success

in battle.3

lP.R.O., S.P. 80/21, fo.28: Stepney to Hedges,
9 June 1703.

2Blenheim, Sunderland Letter Book, i, p. 89:
Ssunderland to Manchester, 5 August 1707.

3For example, Blenheim, Marlborough Letter Book,
xxi, pp. 6-7: Marlborough to Stanhope, 15 November 1707.



87

An example of this line of thinking may be seen in
1710, when the cabinet was considering a proposal to move
2000 cavalry troops from Italy into Spain. This, Secretary
Boyle wrote, 'would have the consequence either of reducing
us to act defensively in Piedmont, or to give over the
thoughts of making any diversion on that side next year,
unless they could be replaced from the Emperor's other
Dominions'.

Despite the financial wealth of England and Holland
together, the two nations alone could not produce what was
necessary to conduct a war on such a vast scale. The
geographic position and the soldiers which the other
allies could provide were essential elements in England's
conception of the grand strategy for the war. But the war
was not seen entirely in terms of the army. The navy had
an important part in the concept of the grand strategy.

In terms of party politics and public opinion in
England, the army and navy symbolized alternative strate-
gies to the war.2 In actual practice, however, and in
terms of the basic conception of English grand strategy,
the two armed forces were complementary. Nottingham, the
High Tory secretary of state told Marlborough,

I am biased by an opinion that we
shall never have any decisive success,

nor be able to hold out a war against
France, but by making it a sea war,

lP.R.O., S.P. 104/40: Boyle to Palmes,
19 August 1710.

2See Chapter VII below, 'The Public Debate and
War Strategy'.
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and such a sea war as accompanies
and supports attempts on land.l

Nottingham was neither suggesting here England's involve-
ment as a mere auxiliary to the war, nor a concentration
on a colonial war, nor a 'guerre de course'. He was
speaking specifically of amphibious attacks on France and
the English treaty obligation to Portugal. At the same
time, he was underscoring the point that there was a funda-
mental and valuable connection between the two armed
forces.

Even before war was declared, England had seriously
considered the problem of sending a fleet to the Mediter-
ranean which could support the Imperial army in Italy.

In September of 1701, Secretary Hedges wrote to Stepney,
You will not want arguments to justify
our proceeding in not sending a fleet
into the Mediterranean this year, from
the want of ports for their security,
which is a most material alteration of
the case from what it was last war, and
that the season is too far advanced for
us to do any service there. 2

Shortly after Queen Anne's accession to the throne,
Count Wratislaw, the Imperial Ambassador in London, pro-
posed to the Queen that the fleet be sent to Naples in
1702, for support of the Empire. The proposal was disap-
proved for the same basic reason. The fleet could not 'go

so far as Naples not having any Port in the way without

being exposed to the utmost dangers of the sea'.3 The

lP.R.O., S.P. 44/209, fo.26: Nottingham to
Marlborough, 2 April 1703.

2P.R.O., S.P. 104/200, fo.206: Hedges to Stepney,
5 September 1701.

3P.R.O., S.P. 80/224: Answer to Count Wratislaw's
proposal, 18 April 1702.
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need for naval bases was a real and practical consideration
in implementing grand strategy. The value of the fleet in
the Mediterranean was clearly understood, the problem
during the first few years of the war was the practical
difficulty in accomplishing the task. The need for a
base somewhere between England and the Mediterranean was
essential, but the ability to obtain this base depended
upon the success of operations and upon conditions abroad.
In 1702, Admiral Sir George Rooke received discretionary
orders to detach a squadron into the Mediterranean after
the capitulation of Cadiz. This squadron was to be
ordered, in particular, to assist the Imperial army by
maintaining supply lines across the Adriatic.l Concerning
this matter, Sir Charles Hedges wrote to his colleague

Nottingham,

As for the sending a squadron to the
Mediterranean, I think there is no
reason to be in pain; if we have not
Cadiz they will not go and if we have
it, '"tis left to their judgement there,
who will certainly consider the services
they are to undertake, and what is
feasible, as well as the time of returning
to Cadiz, and refitting there for the
next spring, and they have already been
told the reasons for making the detach-
ment, and of Her Majesty's design of
having a fleet in the Mediterranean next
year, and having better advices of the
motions of the Count de Tolouse, than we
can have at this distance, must conse-
quently be the best judges whether it

be fit to make a detachment or not.?2

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 28,925, fos.80-1:
Instructions to Rooke, 21 August 1702.

2prit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,588, fo.251: Hedges
to Nottingham, 20 September 1702.
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The failure of the Cadiz expedition and the necessity
for the fleet to return to England for a winter base pre-
vented entry into the Mediterranean in 1702. The plans
for the fleet in the Mediterranean in 1703 were carried
through. It was to be an allied fleet of both Dutch and
English ships. By late May the Dutch squadron had not yet
appeared in England to sail on the expedition. Concerned
over this delay, Nottingham urgently wrote to Grand Pen-
sionary Heinsius to encourage its prompt sailing. Attempt-
ing to persuade him of the importance of this expedition
to grand strategy, Nottingham emphasized points which
described much of the continuing value of the fleet in the
Mediterranean:

The prospect of prevailing with the
Governments on the Coast of Barbary
to break with France and in conse-
quence to make peace with the States.

The succouring of the Cevennois with
arms, ammunition and money which we
have on board our squadron for that
purpose for the revolt of these
Protestants against France.

The assistance of the Sicilians par-
ticularly of Palermo who have given
assurance of revolting upon the
appearance of our Fleet.

The assistance of the Emperor to
transport his troops . . .

But above all, to induce the Duke of
Savoy to declare for the House of
Austria by giving such diversions . . .
to the French in Italy. . . . A

fleet in the Mediterranean was neces-
sary to encourage the Duke of Savoy

by letting him see how zealous we

were to support the House of Austria
everywhere, and I doubt it 1is
necessary too to satisfy the Emperor
that we have no thought of a partition
which the Court of Vienna has long
most unreasonably suspected and this
suspicion will be perhaps increased
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rather than diminished by the treaty
with Portugal of which the first

fruits haYe an immediate relation
to Spain.

In order to achieve these and similar objectives,
it was necessary to ensure that the fleet could move
effectively in carrying out its functions. The strate-
gists of the day believed that in order to do this, it
was necessary for the English fleet to be superior numer-
ically to the French fleet. The obvious way in which the
French could be superior was to join their Mediterranean
fleet with this Atlantic fleet. English commanders had
strict and continuing orders to prevent this occurrence.
'There may be some danger,' Sir Cloudesley Shovell's
orders in 1703 read, 'in case the French, when you are in
the Mediterranean, thinking themselves inferior to you,
should attempt to repass the Straits, you are to have a
careful eye on the motions of their Fleet and endeavour
by all means possible to hinder their repassing and coming
towards Portugal. . . .'2 Secretary Hedges emphasized one
aspect of the objective of preventing these fleets from
joining when Shovell was given authority to seek out the
French fleet on the coast of Spain, Portugal or elsewhere,
if they had left the Mediterranean. 'Although it be not
so in express words in your Instructions . . . if you think
yourself superior and can have an advantage over the French

fleet whenever you find an opportunity to attack them, it

lprit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,595, fo0.230: Nottingham
to Pensioner, 24 May 1703.

2p.R.0., S.P. 44/208, fo.92: Instructions to
Shovell, 29 June 1703.
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will be looked upon here as considerable a service as
any that is intended.'l

The battle between fleets was not the sole purpose
for the allied fleets' presence in the Mediterranean.
John Methuen complained that some naval officers failed
to realize this

« « o in truth our commanders at sea
are very unwillingly brought to think
that there is any other service for a
fleet at sea than fighting the enemy's
fleet so that if the French do not
come out they think they have done
enough. . . .2

Sir Philip Meadows echoed the same sentiment when he

commented, 'I hope the Confederate Fleet will not ride

Masters again in the Mediterranean in vain. . . .'3 There

were important services that the fleet could perform
beyond the direct engagement of the enemy fleet, but there
were limitations as well to what it could do. While wait-
ing impatiently to begin the naval campaign in the
Mediterranean in the spring of 1706, Admiral Sir George
Byng commented,

The day burns away. If in any summer -
we may reasonably expect to do service
with our fleet in winning over by
persuasion, or otherwise by force the
islands, or any part of the coast, sure
it should be this in which we are this
early in our sea campaign, and superior
we think in our naval force, though
when all's done ships are but [ill
suited] tools to win towns withall if
no land is to be purchased by the fruit

lp.R.0., S.P. 44/208, fo. 93-4: Hedges to Shovell,
2 July 1703.

2Brit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 28,057, fos. 212-3:
J. Methuen to Godolphin, 4 June 1706.

3P.R.O., S.P. 80/29: Meadows to [Boyle?],
11 April 1708.
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a1
of our summer's toil.

From the very outset of the war, the strategy of
fleet operations in the Mediterranean had a direct relation
to the conduct of the war on the continent. The ability
of the allied fleet to provide transportation and naval
support for the armies near the Mediterranean was an
essential part of the concept. 1In 1707, for instance,
Secretary Harley illustrated this when he wrote Sir Philip
Meadows, then envoy in Vienna,

The remoteness from us [in England},
will make it very difficult to send

a sufficient supply of troops and in
good time . . . We may have reason to
hope they [the Imperial-German troops)
will have success in their attack on
Naples and consequently that Kingdom
will be continued to King Charles with
a small part of those troops, and
therefore the remainder may be trans-
ported very early by Our Fleet into
Spain for the service of King Charles . . .
this will be a means to recover those
parts of Spain. The English troops
which are already gone to Portugal I
hope will be able to preserve that
Court in our Alliance, and the Diver-
sion the Duke of Savoy will make will
afford the Germans an opportunity of
succeeding in Spain. . . .2

This one example of many instances may serve to
illustrate the direct relationship which the Mediterranean
Fleet had to the overall strategy on the continent. The
ability of the navy to freely perform this kind of assist-
ance without major opposition from the enemy was its key

contribution. The inter-relationship of the different

lGloucestershire R.O0., MSS. D340a C27/8: Byng to
Thomas Reynolds, 18 May 1706.

2P.R.O., S.P. 104/39: Harley to Meadows,
14 June 1707.
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theatres and the necessity of using the Alliance as a
resource were linked in southern Europe through the navy's
capacity to undertake this duty in the Mediterranean.

In addition to surrounding France and forcing her to
disperse her armies to meet multiple threats, England
included in her basic conception of strategy an idea for
the economic isolation of France.l Through this she
attempted to cut off French resources and to reduce French
ability to prosecute a war effectively against the allies.
This was reflected in diplomacy through her insistent
demand for a prohibition of commerce and financial trans-
actions between merchants in France and those in allied
countries. Complementing this, the English navy attempted
to prevent the supply of money reaching France from America.

In the autumn of 1701, Admiral Sir George Rooke was
ordered by the Ministry to gain intelligence about French
Fleet movements because

. . . from several concurrent advices

having just cause to apprehend that

the French King intends to seize like-

wise as the forts in the Spanish Nether-

lands all the effects of the Spanish

Flota expected home in a short time,

the better to enable him to carry on a

war.
Writing to the Governor of Jamaica, Secretary Lord
Nottingham commented, 'you will easily imagine the vast

advantage to Her Majesty if it were possible to interrupt

the French squadron in its return with the Spanish

lsee viviane Barrie, 'La prohibition du commerce
avec la France dans la politique anglaise a8 la fin du
xvii® sidcle.' Revue du Nord, 59 (1977), 343-64.

2P.R.O., S.P. 44/206-7, fos.1l-4: Instructions to
Rooke, 12 August 1701. This was the Flota which was
eventually attacked at vigo in 1702.
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Flota. . . .' The Governor was ordered to gain all
intelligence that he could and send it to England as well
as the Commander-in-Chief of the Caribbean Squadron,

'. . . that all imaginable care may be taken to meet and

take and destroy . . . the flota'.l
Distant operations in the Caribbean and North Atlantic

had this aspect which was directly related to the conduct

of the war on the continent. The attack on the silver fleet

was undoubtedly designed to complement allied operations

in order to prevent its cargo from being used to support

the enemy war effort.2

Conclusion

England's basic objectives in entering the war were
to secure her own safety, to prevent foreign interference
in the Revolution settlement and to secure and maintain
her trade abroad. In order to achieve these goals,
English statesmen believed that there must be a balance of
power in Europe which would hinder any one nation from
interfering with the normal development of another nation.
While this might also bring benefit to others, it would
specifically allow England to achieve her primary objec-
tives. The major threat to obtaining this political
situation in Europe was posed by the potential growth of

French power through the inheritance of the Spanish throne

lrit. Lib., Addit. MSS. 29,591, fo.9: Nottingham
to Selwyn, 15 May 1702.

2H. Kamen, 'The Destruction of the Spanish Silver
Fleet at Vigo in 1702', Bull. Inst. Hist. Res., C (1966),
165-173, argues that the Spanish under Philip V benefited
most from the attack. However true this may be, it was
certainly not England's intention.
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by the French king's grandson. The inheritance by a
Bourbon prince was not in itself a threat, but military
and political events indicated that the potential danger
would become a reality. The practical military problem
which England faced was the problem of how to deal with
France's military strength. The basic strategic idea
which England seized upon was to engage the superior strength
of France on as many fronts as possible in order to compel
her to divide and, thus, to weaken her forces. Since this
was an objective which no single European nation could
accomplish alone, the maintenance of an active alliance
conducting an offensive war with several armies was the
key stone to the strategy. In this manner, the campaigns
in each theatre were fundamentally connected in the English
understanding of grand strategy for the war. In order to
maintain this type of a war, several other elements were
necessary to facilitate it. Allied naval supremacy was
necessary to support military operations in the Peninsula
and in Italy as well as to maintain communications in all
areas. The attacks on the silver fleet were part of a
larger view of economic warfare which was intended to
complement operations in the Continental theatre by hinder-
ing French ability to conduct the war. All of these
elements were related to the same strategic goal: the
engagement of France on as many fronts as possible in order
to reduce her superior strength to proportions manageable
by the smaller allied powers.

This concept which is broadly sketched here appears
to have been the guiding thought behind England's employ-

ment of her military and naval forces. It was this concept



7/ SECURE THE
DUTCH REPUBLIC

GERMANY

DIVIDE AND DEFEAT
i -FRENCH FORCES BY
A TRIPLE THREAT ON
THE FRENCH FRONTIER

SOUNDINGS  ,*

)
SQUADRON ¢ \

| - |

\ b \

\ - \

ISOLATE THE \ )

FRENCH ECONOMY \

i SEPARATE SPAIN
y:".  FROM FRENCH
... CONTRO

% . A 4 .

THE CONCEPT OF ENGLISH
GRAND STRATEGY IN THE WAR
OF THE SPANISH SUCCESSION



97
which lay behind England's use of her military and naval
force, her financial resources and her diplomacy as the
means to obtain the proper strategic position as well as
influencing the use of allied forces to join with her in
carrying out the strategy.

To some degree, it was an unpractical idea, for it
failed to consider the problems of implementation, the
varying national goals among the allies, a French counter-
strategy, the impact of events and the changing political
situation during the course of the war. The strategy was
founded in the context of a particular stance on a specific
situation in European politics. The military and naval
goals which England hoped to achieve through her strategy
were not the basic national objectives which she sought,
but rather the means, in a particular situation, to those
objectives. For these reasons, England's concept of grand
strategy is an unsatisfactory explanation for all aspects
of her conduct in the war. Nevertheless, there is con-
siderable evidence which indicates that this strategy

remained in use until the very final stages of the war.



CHAPTER III

A WEB OF TREATIES

The formal agreements which England made with other
nations during the period 1701 to 1712 established the
basic international framework through which England
carried out her strategy for the war. The maintenance of
an alliance was essential to the English concept of the
war in order to achieve a number of definite objectives.
An alliance provided a means to expand her financial
resources to fight the war as well as the means to provide
additional men, arms, supplies, and ships which England,
herself, could not supply. The alliance, <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>